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CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION—EARLY YEARS WITH HIS PARENTS

IT was on the dark afternoon of December 13th, 1899,
that news reached Edinburgh that Major-General
Andrew Wauchope had fallen, at the head of the
Highland Brigade, whilst leading a night attack on
the enemy’s position at Magersfontein. As this news
was quickly communicated by one to another, a deep
gloom spread over many hearts, first in the capital,
then in the suburbs, then in the surrounding country.
Considering that, even at that time, the Highland
Brigade was understood to have been severely cut
up in the late engagement, this was but in the nature
of things. And yet the sorrow—the word is not too
strong—manifested by that entity so oft misunder-
stood, the man in the street, had in it something
which at once distinguished it from that which
follows upon most collective calamities. This some-
fhing was a personal note: the name of Wauchope
—of ‘Andy Wauchope’—was breathed with tender
and affectionate regret from almost every speaker’s
lip. Many had fallen; it was round the General’s
name that grief was precipitated. It is not always
thus—perhaps not often—in a country where strong
personal independence is carried to the point of a fault
or a religion. And when, at a later hour, the sad
A
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news reached the Border country—where, as well as
in Edinburgh, the fallen leader had been a well-known
figure—the feeling which it evoked was the same.
So was it, there is good ground for believing, in some
more or less modified degree, throughout the whole
of Scotland. Over-emphasis in writing is a distinctive
vice of the age, though not one with which the present
writer is conscious of much affinity. This, at least,
he strongly feels: that nowhere would it be more out
of place to overstep the moderation of fact than in
writing of such a man as Wauchope—one who was
in his nature modest and of fine reserve, to whom
anything approaching to advertisement would have
been even more distasteful than to the average gentle-
man. The writer therefore restricts himself to stating
with dispassion, in a spirit as of science, the fact
which stands and is deserving record, that Scotland
mourned for Wauchope as for one of the best-loved
and most sorely missed of all her sons. ¢There is
no other Scottish soldier,’ it was written at the time,
‘ whose death would have produced a like impression.’

Now Scotland’s sympathies have ever been swift
to respond to the appeal of military distinction, more
especially when that distinction is embodied in the
person of one of her own sons. Notwithstanding this,
there may seem at first sight to be in Wauchope’s
case a certain disproportion between the recognition
and the thing recognised. No one claims for Wauchope
that he had proved himself a great soldier, though he
may have had it in him to do so. No one, to be more
particular, would think of ranking him alongside of a
Colin Campbell, a Hugh Rose, or a Hope Grant. For



A REGIMENTAL OFFICER 3

distinction such as theirs, he had lacked the first
requisite—opportunity. As a general-officer he was
all but untried in the field—his chances lay still in
the future. Dying at the age of fifty-three, it is
doubtful, in spite of his many and hard-fought
campaigns, if he can be described with perfect fitness
as a veteran. Nor, though his courage by the universal
consent of those qualified to judge was of the finest,
had any specially conspicuous act of personal valour
happened to mark him off from his comrades-in-arms.
As a soldier, it had never been his practice to fight
‘for his own hand’; the aim which he set before him-
self was not the winning of personal glory, but to take
his share of the day’s work with the rest. But to the
doing of that said day’s work he brought a spirit,
energy, devotion which are rare. He had that finest,
happily not rarest, quality in a workman—the desire,
the determination, to have his work well done. In
him this amounted to a ruling passion. And when
this becomes known, as it does not in any sphere
whatever of labour or enterprise take long to do, the
worker’s individual share in the day’s work is certain
henceforth to grow and grow. It was as a plain
regimental officer, then, not as a ‘ hero’ or commander,
that Wauchope’s military reputation was made. His
was the nature which entirely and unquestioningly
sinks self in its endeavour for the general weal. In
this he was whole-hearted, and in this consistent
throughout. Whether this type of soldier is or is
not in its own degree less valuable than the other
types referred to, let me leave it to soldiers to pro-
nounce. It is certain, it is indeed in the nature of



4 MAJOR-GENERAL WAUCHOPE

things, that this self-effacing type has met with far
less than its due share of the attention it so easily
dispenses with of the world and the biographer.

But, since Wauchope’s merits were of this kind,
it will be asked, How came they to receive such wide-
spread recognition? They were not of the showy
order, and though the circle of friends whom his noble
and kindly nature had attached to him was a very
wide one, that fact was quite insufficient to account
for his reputation. The explanation lies partly in
extraneous circumstances—circumstances lying out-
side his immediate professional work—which had
attracted attention to him. For Wauchope was, in
a sense, many-sided. But it lies much more in his
character. He united in himself a certain combina-
tion of qualities which, if not unique, was rare; he
realised in his own person a high type—one might
almost say an ideal—of Scottish character. And that
character, by his untiring devotion to duty, his con-
stant and unvarying kindliness to all sorts and
conditions of men, by other qualities as well, he had,
without stepping aside from the walks of everyday
life, impressed upon his countrymen. ‘Even the man
who brings our milk is mourning for him, as the whole
town is,’ wrote an Edinburgh lady, a few days after
his death. ‘Eh, he was good to cabmen,’ said a
cabman’s wife at the same time. Another lady wrote
as follows:—‘I heard a little story in Lanark which
may interest you, though it is only one of very many.
The day the news of Magersfontein came, the Jubilee
nurse was visiting a miner’s wife, and found the
husband sitting by the fire with tears rolling down
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his cheeks. He told her he had been many years
in the dear old Forty-Second, and that the General
had been just like a father to them—they would
never see his like again’ When Wauchope died
there were many ‘tributes’ to his memory—tributes
from quarters which conventional usage would describe
as high and low. But, if I knew the man, the
specimens which I have quoted (could he have heard
them) were not those which would have touched him
least. Of the two classes—those who erect barriers
between themselves and their subordinates, and those
who break existing barriers down—he belonged not
to the former. And were I to describe him in a
single phrase, I should say that he had, combined
with the best qualities proper to the soldier, the
genius of goodness and of loving-kindness. For there
is a genius of the heart as well as of the mind, and
it is perhaps the rarer of the two.

From the above it will appear that the task to be
performed by Wauchope’s biographer is a double
one. In the first place, he must present a record
of the incidents of an active military career. But
the mere telling of the ‘story of a soldier’s life’ is
the lesser part of his undertaking. Through and
beyond that record, he must endeavour to put
before the reader a character-sketch of a usique
and inspiring personality. And the combination of
these two sources of interest should give to the
result, among military biographies, an individuality
of its own. How imperfectly this double aim has
been realised in the following pages no one is more
deeply conscious than their author. He may plead,
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in partial extenuation of his shortcomings, that his
task has been by no means an easy one—scarcity
of document, scarcity even of oral tradition, being
among the unsurmountable difficulties encountered
by him. For, despite the generous collaboration of
a large number of General Wauchope’s companions-
in-arms, the fact remains that, saving in exceptional
cases, the busy life of the soldier employed on active
service is not favourable to the amassing of remi-
niscence of the kind here required. And not more
‘strict in his arrest’ is Death than is Oblivion swift
to spread her condor-wings—wide to envelop, powerful
to enfold, and feathered with the night. Such waifs
and strays of recollection as his best efforts have
found still available, the author confidently offers to
the public, as authentic, though imperfect, illustrations
of a man whose memory and example are well worthy
to survive,

ANDREW GILBERT WAUCHOPE was born at Niddrie
Marischal, in a room which can still be pointed out,
in the second oldest part of the house, on the sth
July 1846, and was the third of the four children of
Andrew Wauchope, Esquire, of Niddrie, and Frances,
his wife, daughter of Henry Lloyd, of Lloydsborough,
County Tipperary,—his elders being a brother, William
John, born in Septémber 1841, and a sister, Harriet
Elizabeth Frances, now the wife of the fourth Baron
Ventry ; whilst a second sister, Hersey Josephine
Frances Mary, was many years younger than him-
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self. Of the boys, the elder, William, took after his
mother’s family; whereas Andrew, from his earliest
years, developed the characteristics of a Wauchope
—somewhat modified, no doubt, by the Irish strain
which was in him, and which later showed itself
specially in his gift of speech, and strong, though
restricted, sense of humour. It was partly on this
account, perhaps, that at a very early age he became
a special favourite with his father —a distinction
which he retained throughout the remainder of Mr.
Wauchope’s life-time, and which he consistently re-
paid with a dutiful filial devotion. The two boys,
Andy and his brother, were and remained through
life devotedly attached to one another.

From the published account of the General’s early
childhood, one would gather that he spent that portion
of his life altogether in his native country. This was
by no means the case. The as yet barely articulate
Andrew lisped in German, ‘for the German came’;
and, when wishing to speak English, would translate
his thoughts word for word from the German idiom.
For example, ‘ Now must I upstand’ (Jetsz muss ick
asfstehen), his elder sister remembers hearing him say.
The explanation of this is as follows :—Mr. Wauchope,
who was a keen sportsman, had at one time rented
Belchester, near Coldstream, as a hunting-box ; and,
whilst following the Berwickshire fox-hounds from
that place, had met with a serious accident—sustain-
ing an injury by which his health was permanently
impaired, and which finally caused his death at the
age of fifty-six years. About the year 1851 he deter-
mined to try the effect upon his ailment of the famous
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water-cure which had been established, by a physician
named Priessnitz, at Grifenberg, in the mountains of
Austrian Silesia, not far from the Prussian frontier.
To Grifenberg accordingly he went, accompanied by
Mrs. Wauchope and the children, where, having rented
a house, he remained for about two years. During
this period the young Wauchopes made acquaintance
with the better-class children of the place, who became
their playfellows; whence it arose that—German being
the language in which this intercourse was carried on
—the young Scots came to speak it naturally. It
is also recorded that even their kind nurse, Mrs.
Gairdiner, though long past the age when a language
is easily picked up, attained at this time to speaking
a mixed or hybrid tongue. But, as so often happens
with knowledge acquired without conscious effort of
the brain, as regards little Andrew at least, the
language thus early learned was in after years com-
pletely forgotten. After leaving Griifenberg, the
family spent a winter at Nice, and before returning
to Scotland visited Florence.

It was as a travelled child, therefore, that Andy—
as, not only now but throughout life, he was most
generally called—saw again the patrimonial estate
which he had left as little more than a baby. To
a lad of his keen, adventurous, and high-spirited
temper, the place must at once have presented the
most delightful of opportunities, of possibilities. An
oasis in the midst of the Black Country which lies to
the immediate south-east of Edinburgh, its spacious
shrubbery-girdled house, its green parks, timber trees,
and rivulet, would constitute to such a boy as he
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a world of inexhaustible delights. Accordingly he
loved it early; whilst to the very last evening that
he spent there, and beyond it, his love continued to
occupy a foremost place among those local affections
which it was his nature to cherish with peculiar
warmth. Nor was he now long in testing, from his
own boyish point of view, the sporting capacities of
Niddrie. His beginning was made in tree-climbing
and bird’s-nesting. Then there was angling in Niddrie
Burn, which at that time still harboured trout, though
these have since become extinct, as have likewise the
Niddrie pheasants which later claimed his attention.
Probably, to judge from a more mature standpoint,
the proximity of a mining-district is not favourable to
sport. But, for the present, Andy’s opportunities
amply sufficed him; and many a tom jacket and
drenched pair of breeches bore witness to the zest
with which he availed himself thereof. He has been
described by one who remembers him at this time as
a ‘thorough little pickle,’ and no doubt he deserved
the character. '

For the expanding mind, however, objects of interest
were by no means confined to the home policies.
Breaking bounds in one direction, he would be con-
fronted by Craigmillar Castle—still preserving, as the
soul of its huge body, associations of the lovely Queen
of Scots; whilst, in another direction, his gaze would
fall upon the sea—now so soon to fill a foremost and
absorbing place in his young imagination. Here, also,
lay Portobello sands, at that time a favourite spot for
the exercising of troops—a spectacle on which the
future Brigadier looked not in vain. So, since it is
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the nature of childhood to imitate maturity, we hear
of his putting the boys of the neighbourhood through
their drill. He had also a second regiment under his
command which was of mixed composition. After
the outbreak of the Crimean War in 1854, his uncle,
Captain George Elliot of the Royal Navy,—he had
married Mr. Wauchope's sister,—was ordered with his
ship to the Black Sea. The juvenile party at Niddrie
was then recruited by the Captain’s daughters—now
the Countess Dowager of Northesk and Mrs. Dacre
Butler—coming to reside there,—which young ladies,
with his sister, and some boys and girls living on the
estate, he formed into a household corps. Nor must
it be understood that, merry as the little party was, its
enrolment was treated purely as a joke. That would
not have been in keeping with Andy’s character; and,
though the entire regiment was devoted to its com-
mander, they knew that, when occasion required, it
was quite within his power to be irascible, and were
consequently just the least bit afraid of him. Those
were the days of spirited attacks on, and defences of,
the ice-house—a chamber of which the roof formed
a mound of turf, constituting, in mimic warfare, an
ideal position to hold or to assail. That Andy’s mind
was just then running upon military things is shown
by his reply to the village schoolmaster, when called
on to descend from the high park-wall upon which he
had mounted to the peril of his neck: ¢ All right, Mr.
Savage,’ he shouted, with a wave of his hand; ‘I'm
only viewing the enemy!’ But his most remarkable
performance of this kind is yet to be told. There
were visitors at Niddrie, and he had marched _his
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corps, of which he was justly proud, to the house for
inspection, himself riding before on his black pony,
Donald. He put his soldiers through their facings to
the entertainment of the guests, who, however, were
scarcely prepared for what came next. For, having
given the word of command, ‘ March—forward,’ he
actually proceeded to ride into the hall, through the
dining-room, and out on to the terrace at the back of
the house, his well-drilled soldiers following, with
drum beating and flag flying. Surely, for one who in
time to come was to be famous as a leader, this early
disregard of obstacles was no bad beginning !

Rich, however, as were the resources of Niddrie,
they were perhaps surpassed by those of the second
family property at Yetholm, to which the boy paid
occasional visits. Here, indeed, were no enclosed
park, no stately mansion; but, in their place, the
green open country of the Cheviot Hills, Bowmont
Water with its trout-streams, Yetholm Loch with
its flocks of various wild-fowl, its shoals of perch,
and its pike for which a trimmer might be set. Truly
the paradise of any healthily minded boy who has
preserved the natural instincts of the race! At
Yetholm, too, one may assume that a greater freedom
of intercourse with all conditions of men would
naturally be his than within the gates of Niddrie
Marischal. And to Andrew Wauchope, man and
boy, such intercourse was dear. Already, at the
age of eight, he made himself known to every soul
in Yetholm village, and would run as he chose in
and out of every house there. To all alike he was
just ‘Andy’; and, though during youth he was
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undoubtedly a bit of a tease, being described by
those who remember him at that time as brimful of
mischief, his instinct so guided him that he never
overstepped the line where legitimate fun ends.
On their side, the villagers were far too fond of him
ever to take serious exception to his pranks. And
it is pleasant to be able to record that friendships
formed in those boyish days endured unchanged
through life. So that, years afterwards, when on
one of his periodical visits to Yetholm, as a mature
man who had served his country with distinction,
he would tap upon a cottage-door, it was as like as
not that the answer of the occupant—some aged
good-wife—would be, ¢‘Is that you, Andy? Come
your ways in!’ There was in particular one old
man, a crofter, Willie Grahamslaw by name, now
deceased, whom Wauchope on his return from a
campaign never failed to visit before any one else
in the village. ‘Andy, that’s never you!’ tie de-
lighted veteran would exclaim, as the fact dawned
by degrees upon perceptions dimmed by time. And
what a hearty shaking of hands would then ensue!
Need we wonder that in life he was beloved, that
after death his memory is green within the Border
village?

So much, then, for young Wauchope’s out-door life
at this time, and of course he was primarily an out-
door boy. But, within doors also, a like fulness of
life and spirits characterised him, making him a source
of constant amusement to his young companions. A
born actor, he took great pleasure in dressing up to
assume and sustain a character, one of his impersona-
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tions being that of a Muleteer, whose song he would
sing to an accompaniment of the cracking of a whip.
A favourite play of his was the classical burlesque
of Bombastes Furioso, in which he has been known
to take a part at a period very much later than that
at which we have as yet arrived. And, indeed, it is
a fact—though perhaps difficult of credence to those
who only knew him in his later and graver years—
that through life his mimetic power never deserted
him; so that when, at a time of cholera-scare in
Egypt, it was deemed particularly desirable to keep
the men’s minds occupied, he returned at the call
of duty for a single night to his early love, and,
throwing himself as was his wont heart and soul into
all he did, sustained with great applause a part in
regimental theatricals.

Easy as was his intercourse with mankind in the
free society of the village, like most country-bred
children, Andy, in a2 more formal world, was by no
means free from shyness—which, indeed, continued
to characterise him until a much later date. In
illustration of this, one of the cousins who spent
her childhood with him relates how, once when the
children from Niddrie had been sent to attend a
party at the neighbouring house of New Hailes (then
occupied by a tenant), she and Andy felt ill at ease
among the unfamiliar faces surrounding them. Whilst
in this plight, they happened to notice an open
window, having steps leading down from it, which
seemed to invite their escape. The temptation was
irresistible; so, hand in hand, they passed out of the
house, nor did they cease running till they had left
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the intervening miners’ village behind them, and
were safe at home once more. Meantime, in the
house they had just left, their absence, and the
failure to discover them by search, were causing
consternation.

More surprising than to hear that he was shy
with strangers is it to learn that the boy who was
afterwards to be celebrated for his dauntless and
unflinching courage was at this time highly strung
and extremely nervous. He was likewise a prey to
superstitious fear and to terrors of the imagination—
more afraid to go upstairs alone in the dark than
were the sister and girl-cousins, his playmates; nay,
addicted upon occasion to leaving his own solitary
bedroom, for company's sake, to sleep upon the floor
of theirs. I have already hinted that his temper
could be warm, not to say fiery. This was especially
apt to be the case when any one, wishing to tease
him, would address him as ‘Carrots,’ or otherwise
rudely allude to the redness of his hair—a point as
to which he was peculiarly sensitive. Indeed it is
remembered that, at a later date, in one of his early
letters from school, he reported progress by speaking
of himself as ¢ becoming very brave’ (as, upon parental
exhortation, he had doubtless set himself to do) and
‘not minding much now when the other boys teased
him about his hair’ On this point, his kind nurse,
Gairdiner, used to seek to soothe his amour-propre
by saying consolingly of the auburn locks, ‘ Eh! yon's
no reid.” And it is characteristic of his grateful and
affectionate nature that, long afterwards, when a
young officer of the Black Watch, ‘ with all the world
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before him where to choose,’ he found time to travel
twice to Dundee for the express purpose of visiting
the old woman, then a pensioner of the family and
bedridden. So that, if his temper was warm, his
bheart was certainly not less so. Another of his
boyish virtues was unselfishness. ‘Extraordinarily
unselfish for a man,’ says of him one of those who
at this time and afterwards lived on terms of closest
intimacy with him. And that, from a woman, is as
handsome a concession as can be expected. Also,
before concluding this chapter—though it belongs by
date to his twelfth year—there is one little anecdote,
told by a nurse of the family, which to me seems
admirably to illustrate that sense of deep and far-
away thoughtfulness which his aspect sometimes
conveyed to those who were in his company, and
which served to mark him off from commoner
men.

In June 1858 he lost his mother. By this time
he had made up his mind to go to sea, and was
indeed being prepared to enter the training-ship.
Strolling dejectedly near Niddrie in the interval
before the funeral, he came upon the gardener, who
was assisting in digging poor Mrs. Wauchope’s grave.
Him he addressed by name, and—dreaming, no doubt,
in his mournful mood of a foreign or a watery grave
as his own probable portion—to him said, ‘ You need
not leave room for me—1I shall not be buried there.
Viewed by the light of after events, this utterance
seems prophetic. At the lowest estimate, it suffices
to prove in Wauchope’s case the truth of the poetic
adage, ‘A boy's thoughts are long, long thoughts.’
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His sense of loss sustained by his mother’s death
was not soon or easily assuaged, and at least up to
the period of his early manhood he would still at
times experience a sensation as of her spiritual
presence beside his bed at night.



CHAPTER II
SCHOOLDAYS—SERVICE IN THE NAVY

To resume the chronological narration of events,
when in his tenth year Andy was put to a school at
Worksop, in Nottinghamshire. This school, which
had been carefully selected for him by Mrs.
Wauchope, was in more than one respect a remark-
able one. It had been founded some time before by a
certain Dr. Heldenmeyer, who in earlier days had
been an assistant-master under the celebrated philan-
thropic educationist, Pestalozzi, in his institution at
Yverdun. Jean-Henri Pestalozzi had died in 1827;
and, before young Wauchope went to Worksop, his
former assistant Heldenmeyer had been succeeded in
the management of the school by a Dr. Ellenberger,
a Swiss gentleman of high character, who continued
to conduct the establishment upon Pestalozzian
lines.

It may be remembered that, in his Lsvre des Meéres,
the much-misunderstood reformer of Zurich had made
a special appeal to mothers; whilst, in the sequel to
his famous work of fiction entitled Léomard et
Gertrude, he had sought to instruct these in the art of
developing the affections of their children. Well, it
seems more than likely that, during hér long
residence on the Continent, Mrs. Wauchope may have

B



18 MAJOR-GENERAL WAUCHOPE

read those books, and been attracted by them ; whence
her choice of the Worksop school for her younger boy.
It is now most commonly considered that, though
admittedly a man of genius, Pestalozzi was unpracti-
cal; but, in the fifties of the last century, the
humanity of his system, together with his fascinating
doctrine of developing the human faculties in con-
formity with natural progress, may well have appealed
successfully to an enlightened and affectionate
English mother. To Worksop, at any rate, Andrew
was sent; and it is certainly not too much to claim
that, were the school memorable for nothing else, its
existence is justified by the share it had in producing
the man whom he came to be. His own account of
this experience of his, as he would give it later in life,
was that he had been placed at the Pestalozzian
school because it was known that there he would not
be corporally corrected; but that being a very
naughty little boy, he was not found to progress under
this system, and so was removed elsewhither—an
account, as I need not insist, due solely to his
fondness for fun.

The means of intellectual training mainly relied on
at Dr. Ellenberger's were mathematics and modemn
languages. The study of Latin may have been com-
pulsory; but Greek, if taught at all, was certainly
optional ; so that Wauchope in later life would some-
times regret that he had received little or no classical
education. Gymnastics filled an important place in
the course. Diet, by comparison with more modern
standards, was Spartan—meat being eaten but once
daily — whence a surviving schoolfellow of the
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General’s recalls retiring to bed at night with stomach
crying aloud for fresh supplies. The tone of school-
life was exceptionally pure and high, the use of foul
language being voted by the boys themselves ‘bad
form’; whilst that the school found favour among
parents is proved by the fact that it would be
patronised by the youth of entire families—brothers,
cousins, and kinsmen of more remote degree succeed-
ing each other in it. When at the fullest, it numbered
as many as a hundred pupils.

It was as a ‘little, red-haired, freckled boy’ that
Wauchope struck one of his contemporaries when he
made his appearance at Worksop. Portraits of Dr.
Ellenberger’s scholars of that period show that they
wore large white collars and full black bow ties, with
hair hanging in heavy side-locks; and, in reference to
the last, it is a curious fact that at this early age
Wauchope had already developed the trick, which in
moments of abstraction clung to him through life, of
twisting a fingerin his fore-lock. Indeed, it was on
seeing him do this that a friend, who had been at
Worksop with him and had not met him again until
many years after, exclaimed, ‘Ah! now I know for
certain that you are the same Wauchope with whom
I was at school!’ Being the only Scots boy in the
school, he was known to his schoolmates as ‘ Scotchie’;
and it is noteworthy that when asked what profession
he proposed to enter, he would, even at this age,
invariably reply, ‘I shall join the Forty-Second
Regiment.’

Perhaps the school-days of remarkable men are not
generally remarkable ; if this is so, then Wauchope’s
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are exceptional. But from this it must not for a
moment be understood that he is to be pictured as a
faultless creature, of the type of Arthur in Zom
Brown's School-Days. That would be altogether mis-
leading. If Wauchope at this time displayed an
excellent disposition, it was a disposition for whatever
mischief might be toward at the moment. In that,
indeed, he bore a foremost part. So ‘that were there,
for example, question of a ‘barring out,’ he was sure
to be art and part of it. But, no doubt, it was in
breaking bounds that he most distinguished himself.
Among Dr. Ellenberger’s charges, to enter the village
of Worksop was strictly against rules. But Scotchie’s
escapades to that forbidden spot, to procure and fetch
back ‘tuck,’ were notorious and remain memorable.
It is also remembered that, when he received a hamper
of good things from home, he would always gather his
friends about him to assist at the opening. Nor was it
only in lawbreaking that he showed his superior mettle.
He is described as ‘the hardest of boys.’ So, in the
game of ‘shinny,’ a variety of hockey which was
played on the ground adjoining the school-house, he
would never hesitate to ‘go for’ a boy of double his
size; and when knocked over, as happened generally
—no matter how roughly — he was never known
to utter a word or sound of complaint. Being
this sort of boy, it is not to be wondered at that,
despite his tender age, he soon became a leader
among his fellows—of whom some at least admired
him enthusiastically. But, notwithstanding his hardi-
ness, it is recorded of him that he was capable, in
certain circumstances, of exhibiting strong emotion.
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The description of one of his journeys, when re-
turning to school, is characteristicc. He had entered
the railway-carriage neatly attired in an Eton jacket
and grey trousers. But, before he had reached his
journey’s end, this immaculate get-up had undergone
some sullying from the contents of a succession of
pork-pies, which he had bought at the railway refresh-
ment room, and of which he devoured the meat,
flinging the crust out of window. On this occasion,
also, he contrived to lose his railway-ticket, whence
his fellow-passengers anticipated difficulties, Not a
bit of it! For, with the good fortune which attends
the happy-go-lucky, even this accident turned to his
advantage. For, having been conducted into the
presence of the station-master, he returned trium-
phant, announcing his intention to lose his ticket
every time he travelled—the official having not only
accepted his explanations, but treated him to tea,
with jam ad /. into the bargain.

Side by side with his boyish spirit there was in
Andy a strong vein of romance. This showed itself
in various ways. For one thing, following the tradi-
tions of his family, he was in early life a stout (if not
always quite consistent) adherent of Jacobitism. So
that one day, when the members of a family-party
assembled at Niddrie were singing together the song
of The Blue Bells of Scotland, on coming to the line,

‘He’s gone to fight the French for King George upon the
throne,

Andy insisted on substituting the name of Charles
for that of George, in defiance of the consideration
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that Prince Charlie had never been de jacto a king,
or occupied a throne. At variance with this spirit
was the profound admiration which, in later life,
he developed for Cromwell, as also for Napoleon,
founded no doubt in either case upon his love of
good soldiership.

He was also much interested in the remarkable
men produced in historic times by his own family.
For example, he was extremely proud of two
Wauchope brothers who had taken part in the
defence of Limerick, and who, after the triumph of
William the Third, rose to be generals in foreign
services. Of these, by the way, one settled in
France, becoming the founder of a French branch of
the Wauchope family, which continued until lately
in existence. The other served in the Spanish
army. Again, in the dining-room at Niddrie hang
two portraits, one of them representing that Sir
John Wauchope who, departing from his family
traditions, became distinguished as a Covenanter;
the other a Wauchope of the preceding century,
‘aman of rare ability’! who, besides rising to
the primacy of Ireland, and being present at the
Council of Trent, must have been remarkable
also in a very different line, since, notwithstanding
that he had been blind from childhood, it is said
that he would ride ‘across country,’ trusting entirely
to his horse: well, it was a favourite subject of
debate between Andy and one of his sisters whether
it would have been more desirable to be the Arch-
bishop or the Covenanter.

Y Life of Igwatins Loyols, by * Stewart Rose’ (Lady Buchan), p. 256,
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So much for the appeal made to his imagination
by the glamour surrounding the royal Stuarts, and
by the figures which had issued from his own race
to leave a name and tradition behind them. Whilst
he was at Dr. Ellenberger’s school, however, it was
an influence of a very different kind which was at
work upon him. He read Captain Marryat’s novels
of sea-life, and their rich humour and gallant spirit
of adventure captivated his fancy. ‘Sailors are
such jolly fellows!’ he would say, characteristically,
at this period; and an old woman-servant of the
Niddrie family still remembers his kindly desire to
induce her to read the books which had so power-
fully and delightfully affected himself. Evidently,
like many another, Master Andy had not yet
mastered the truth that, in literature as well as
outside it, one man’s meat may be another’s poison.
Among the books of his choice, his favourite was
Peter Simple; and one can fancy his vaguely recog-
nising an affinity in that most charmingly ingenious
of ‘young gentlemen’'—a gentleman certainly by no
means in conventional style only. Now, probably
there is not one boy in a thousand whose course in
life is much affected by what he reads; Andrew
Wauchope was, however, that thousandth boy. His
passion for the sea was confirmed by a visit which
he paid to the ship of his uncle, Sir George Elliot,
probably at Portsmouth; so that, forgetful now of
his earlier military aspirations, he made up his mind
to enter the Royal Navy. In another case than his
own, there might of course have been difficulties
about his carrying out his intention. But, in this as
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in most other things, his devotedly attached father was
willing to let him have his way. Accordingly it was
degided that he should go to sea.!

This decision rendered advisable his transference
from the Worksop School to one where more
specialised training would be available. He was
therefore removed from Dr. Ellenberger's establish-
ment, after the comparatively short stay of two
years or less, to be placed at Stubbington House,
near Fareham, Hampshire, which he entered in June
1858, when he had all but completed his twelfth year.
The village of Stubbington is pleasantly situated,
among the green fields, hedge-rows, and timber-trees
of true country, distant about a mile from the Solent
shore, and separated from Gosport by six or seven
miles of furze-grown open. Stubbington House,
which stands in good grounds of its own, must have

1 Among the influences which served to turn the lad’s thoughts sea-
ward, that of one of his grand-uncles must on no account be overlooked.
Robert Wauchope had been born at Niddrie in 1788 ; he entered the
Royal Navy in 1805, rose to the rank of an Admiral of the Blue, and
died in Edinburgh in 1862. His career was a stirring one, comprising
participation in the war with Napoleon, voyages in treasure ships, the
chase and capture of slavers, a personal interview with the ex-Emperor
in his ¢xile at St. Helens, and other similar incidents characteristic of
those more adventurous times. He was, further, a man of considerable
mechanical ingenuity—the inventor of the time-ball in use in observatories
—and, lastly and most essentially, of the profoundest religious feelings.
Young Wauchope, with his brother and a sister, visited him at his
residence, Dacre Lodge, in Cumberland, when the Admiral took a strong
fancy to the boy, who may perhaps have reminded him of a dearly loved
only son whom he had lost. The result was that when, in 1861, he wrote
a ‘Short Narrative of God’s Merciful Dealings’ towards himself, he
addressed the MS. to his ¢ Very dear Andy *—the fifteen-year-old lad who
was entering his own profession. The narrative, which has been pre-
served, forms a document of much hwman, and no little historical,
interest,
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been rather an imposing structure even before it
received the additions which, since Wauchope’s day,
have been necessitated by a large increase in the
number of the pupils. It is of the Georgian type,
contains at least one fine panelled room, and is tradi-
tionally said to have been built about the year 1715,
by a person bearing the somewhat inauspicious and
equivocal name of Missing, from the proceeds of a
contract to supply the Army and Navy with flour and
biscuit at the time of the siege of Gibraltar—that is,
most probably, of the capture of that fortress by
Rooke in 1704. Stubbington House School had been
founded in 1841 by the Reverend William Foster, of
St. John’s College, Cambridge, who still presided over
it; and at the date of Wauchope’s entering, it num-
bered about forty alumni. It was at that time carried
on as a training-school for the Army, Navy, and other
professions. Youths would consequently continue
their studies there up to the ages of eighteen and
nineteen ; and it is probably due to the fact of his
being overshadowed by pupils so much older than
himself that Wauchope seems to have left a much less
distinct impression of his personality behind him here
than he had done at Worksop. His stay here was
also shorter.

In any case, my endeavours to recover traces of
him whilst at Stubbington House School have not
been successful. The present genial headmaster,
Montagu Foster, Esquire, who though senior to
Wauchope, was at school with him under his own
father, remembers him only as a well-bred boy, wear-
ing plaid trousers and a heavy gold watch-chain.

.
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The colour of his hair still attracted the notice of his
schoolfellows, for he was known among them as
‘Reddy.”’ One of them, now a retired Captain of the
Navy, with whom—though they were but for a short
time together—he became great friends, recalls him as
a ‘kind, warm-hearted boy, very considerate to boys
younger than himself.’ Another, with him both here
and on board H.M.S. Brstannia, speaks of ‘his cheeri-
ness and sociability beihg in those days unequalled.’
It is also remembered that his schoolfellows were not
a little impressed by a visit paid to him by his uncle
Elliot, who had then just been appointed Captain of
the Fleet.

Of those schoolfellows, at least one has since risen
to fame. Admiral Lord Charles Beresford, who was
not only with Wauchope at Stubbington, but whose
chest stood next his in the Britannia, and who through
life continued on terms of warm friendship with him,
thus writes of him: ‘We met often about the world
in different ports, and were mutually delighted at our
meetings. He had a splendid character—bold, unsel-
fish, manly, and chivalrous; and he commanded not
only the respect, but the honest affection of all who
knew him. He was a brilliant example of what a
British officer should be in all his characteristics.’
And again: ‘ Andy Wauchope was a grand and good
man in every sense of the word—the Empire cannot
afford to lose such men’ Wauchope and Beresford,
the Scotsman and the Irishman, each enthusiastically
proud of his own nationality, had many an argument
together as to which nation produced the most in-
teresting characters; and it is stated that, though
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agreeing cordially upon every other point, as to this
they never once agreed.

One anecdote of this period of Wauchope’s life has
been preserved. It is to the effect that, feeling the
monotony of their daily life weigh heavily upon them,
the boys of Stubbington one day agreed ta draw lots
to determine who should break it by running away
from school, and that they even clubbed their money
to defray the expenses of the truant. The lot fell
upon Andy, who, true to his word, abode by the terms
of the agreement, and left the school—arriving in due
course in Paris (where his family then was), with no
luggage save a monkey, which he had bought from an
Italian organ-grinder at Boulogne. He was, of course,
sent promptly back. In later life he often told and
laughed over this episode. For my own part, I am
inclined to regard the earlier part of it as a ¢ put up
thing’—a boys’ trick played off upon a companion
whose character of simplicity, combined with strictness
in observance of the obligations of honour, real or
imagined, had to them seemed to present an irresist-
ible opportunity for practices of this kind. In after-
life Wauchope was used to remark that he had been
at two schools, at one of which he was the best, at the
other the worst, of the boys. From what we have
seen of him at Worksop, it was evidently at Stubbing-
ton that he bore the higher character. And it seems
not at all unlikely that a desire to pass promptly for
the Navy may have brought about the change. So, in
due course, he presented himself at the Naval College,
Portsmouth, for examination by the Rev. Mr. Mayne
~—Second Wrangler of his year at Cambridge, and to
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this day remembered for his exceptional skill and
judgment as an examiner; and, having satisfied that
gentleman’s requirements, on the 13th September
1850 he entered the Brifammia training-ship, under
Captain Harris and Chief-Instructor Inskip, at Ports-
mouth. Hisstay at Stubbington House had terminated .
in the previous July.

In those days a naval cadet’s term of service, before
being drafted into a sea-going ship, varied from six
months to twelve. Wauchope remained the longer
time in the Brifannia, his career there being unevent-
ful, but noticeable for the fact that throughout it he
continued to impress his comrades by his personality,
and to win and hold their good opinion. By those
among them with whom I have communicated, he is
described as being universally popular, of a cheerful
and straightforward disposition, though reserved, keen
in all matters both of work and play, high-couraged
and resolute. Rear-Admiral William Mann speaks of
him in these words: ‘A strong character, absolutely
fearless, he was a leader of boys as he afterwards was
of men; one that we all looked up to—the sort of
boy one felt one could take no liberties with, and
would love to gain the approval of. He never bullied,
and couldn’t be bullied. Alwhys cheerful and hopeful.’
I think that all those who knew Wauchope in later
years will recognise in this portrait the boy as father
to the man.

Physically he had developed since the old Worksop
days, his appearance, when on board the Brstannia,
being thus described by another of his messmates:
‘An admirable type of the well-born Scotch laddie,
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he had reddish hair curling close to the head, a broad
white forehead, and very bright blue eyes—rather high
cheek-bones.” The same writer adds, ‘I have seen his
portrait since his death, and it gives him a very thin
face ; but of course as a boy his face was much fuller.’
Speaking of his humour, another correspondent says,
" ¢I can see the twinkle of his blue eyes before me as I
am writing.” In the cockpit of the ship, where the
cadets slept and made their toilet, his chest stood
next to that of Mr. (now Captain) Horatio Kemble,
with whom he shared a servant, one Nichols of the
R.M.L.I.

Wauchope was discharged from the Britannia on
the 21st September 1860. On the 5th October follow-
ing, an Admiralty Minute, initialed by Sir Robert
Dundas, Lord of the Admiralty, appoints him as ¢ part
complement’ to H.M.S. Sz George, Captain the Hon.
Francis Egerton, then lying in Plymouth -Sound. ‘It
was one of the happiest days of my life, says he,
speaking of himself, as, attired in his new uniform, he
walked down the High Street of Portsmouth—the
scene, by the way, of Nelson’s last exploit on British
ground, when he gave an enthusiastic mob the slip by
passing through the courtyard of ‘ The George’ ‘It
was one of the happiest days of my life,—a day in
which I felt myself identified as an officer in Her
Majesty’s service—more particularly as on the way
down to the harbour I was met and saluted by a
marine.’

The St. George was a screw steamship of 500 horse-
power, carrying ninety-one guns and a crew of eight
hundred all told. She was considered one of the
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-finest ﬁghtiné vessels afloat, and is described as
among the noblest-looking ships in the service. Her
next commission was to carry the sailor prince Alfred,
Queen Victoria’s second son, then a lad of sixteen
years of age, on a cruise to the West Indian Islands
and the North American Station. In consideration
of the Prince’s presence, her officers had been selected
with special care; and, apart from family considera-
tions, it may be regarded as a proof of the good
estimation in which Wauchope was held that he
should have been among their number.

The log of the St. George, preserved in the Record
Office of the Admiralty, shows that she remained at
Plymouth until near the end of November, being
alternately moored in the Sound and secured to a
hulk in the Hamoaze, whilst her officers and men were
employed as is usual under similar conditions. Such
entries as ‘ Young gentlemen at gun-drill,’ at cutlass
or rifle-drill, or at knotting and splicing, or seaman-
ship, are the nearest approaches we obtain to any
reference to Naval Cadet Wauchope. On November
the 25th the ship was in Portland Harbour, where,
with short intervals spent in steaming or in sailing
propeller up,’ she remained until her return to Ply-
mouth on December 15th. At Plymouth the New
Year, 1861, was ushered in by the young officers in a
somewhat hilarious manner. It was blowing a gale at
the time, and they, a little elevated, made a ‘ tremendous
row’ in the cockpit, striking sixteen bells,! and so on.
In the evening they had been ashore to see a panto-

1 For the benefit of non-nautical readers, I may explain that sixteen
bells are struck but once in a year, at midnight on the 313t December.
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mime performed. Having proceeded from Plymouth.
to Spithead, and thence to Osborne, on January 7th
the S7. George was visited by Her Majesty the Queen.
After this the crew were employed in taking in stores.
On January 16th H.R.H. Prince Alfred joined the ship
at Plymouth, whence she at once proceeded under
sail, with wind right aft, on her voyage to the West
Indies. Young Wauchope’s dream was now realised ;
nor was it long ere the strength of his passion for the
sea was to be rudely tested.

For the first three days after leaving Plymouth the
weather continued favourable to the ship’s course, and
not altogether unpleasant. The Channel was, there-
fore, soon cleared, and the crew began to indulge in
visions of a quick passage to Barbadoes, the first
island they were to visit. These agreeable anticipa-
tions were, however, doomed to disappointment; for
on the third day of the voyage the wind headed the
ship, which thereupon began to knock about in a
manner very uncomfortable to those within her. By
this time, too, harbour luxuries in the shape of milk
and fresh vegetables were exhausted, and the usual
discomforts of a mid-winter cruise in the North
Atlantic began to be felt.

The St. George was now off the Bay of Biscay, to
the north-west of Cape Finisterre. The wind, which
blew from the south-west, went on increasing in
strength until the 25th or 26th of the month, and
for several days the ship was driven from her course.
On the evening of the latter day, the barometer fell
still lower than before, and night closed in with as
unpleasant a prospect of a hard blow as has often
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been experienced. About 11 P.M. the gale reached
its height. A close-reefed main-topsail, fore staysail
and mizzen course were then the only canvas which
could be shown to it, and that was momentarily
expected to be blown away. The ship heeled over
to an angle of thirty degrees, laying at times lee-
chains under, and took in seas over her bows and
waist continuously. The decks were all afloat—the
cockpit having in it from twelve to twenty inches
of water. It was here that the chests of the gun-
room officers were billeted; and at last, as squall
followed squall in quick succession and the ship con-
tinued rolling, these chests took charge, dashing from
side to side in the water, with results disastrous to
the contents of those which were not water-tight.
In the mess-room, crockery was smashed, and books
and instruments came to grief. During all this time,
the moon shone and the weather was quite clear; so
that the scene to any one who could have viewed it
in an artistic sense must have been magnificent in the
extreme. When daylight broke next morning, how-
ever, the aspect presented by the ship was one of the
most dreary discomfort imaginable. So much, then,
for Wauchope's first taste of sea-life. It was in itself
enough to try the mettle of a seaman. But, in the
boy’s case, the disagreeables of the situation were
heightened to positive misery in consequence of an
accident which had befallen him on the night of the
25th January, when, in shortening sail in the dark,
during a heavy squall, he had been caught in the coil
of the jib halyards, which lifted him from the deck
and threw him down, badly breaking his arm. On
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the 27th January the gale moderated—only, however,
to increase again, until a scene resembling that just
described was re-enacted. This lasted for two or
three days, at the end of which time the ship went
about to the northward, shortly afterwards catching
a fair wind which put her well on her course to Bar-
badoes—where she arrived without further mishap
on the 21st February. Here she anchored in
Carlisle Bay, where she found Her Majesty’s ships
Nile, Styz, and Barvacouta; and where Wauchope
found himself amid scenery celebrated in his favourite
Peter Simple.

After the perils of ocean, the pleasures of the port.
The island was es f#te to do honour to her royal
visitor, who, having landed ‘ under all proper salutes,’
met with an excellent reception from the islanders.
Bridgetown was decorated. Tlluminations and a pro-
cession, a déjeuner, levée, and ball at Government
House, and a ‘dignity ball’ followed ; at some or all
of which we may imagine Wauchope present—his
arm, still carried in a sling, eliciting the sympathy of
the fair and compassionate ladies of the place.
Among their coloured sisters, his boyish face and
bright colouring were the subject of much admira-
tion, so much so that one of his messmates still recalls
the embarrassment to which the modest lad was put
by the frank declaration of a native washerwoman,
¢ Massa Wauchope, I do lub you so’—an incident, as
may be imagined, which gave rise to a good deal of
‘chaff’ among his companions.

The days following the Prince’s landing were
devoted to visiting a sugar-mill and other sight-

C
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seeing, to playing a cricket-match, and attending a
review ; whilst the evenings were spent in dancing.
And the visit to Barbadoes was but the first stage in
a royal progress made by the Prince through the
adjacent islands, each of which, according to ability,
did its best to welcome him heartily., The young
officers of the St George had every opportunity of
thoroughly enjoying themselves. From Barbadoes
the ship proceeded to St. Vincent, where an ascent to
the craters of the Soufritre was the principal event.
On the way down, two snakes which had been killed,
of which each measured some four feet six inches in
length, came into the possession of one of the mid-
shipmen—Wauchope or another—who caused some
amusement to those present by proceeding forthwith
to pack them into his pockets, merely remarking as
he did so that he ‘hoped the beggars were dead.’?

On leaving St. Vincent, the S¢. George visited first
St. Lucia, where a torchlight dance, performed by
negroes, was one of the entertainments offered to the
visitors ; and, next, Fort Royal, Martinique, where
four French men-of-war were lying, and where
Wauchope may perhaps have recalled memories of
the fair Céleste and the tender experiences of his
favourite hero in romance. Thence—the French
squadron accompanying—to St. Pierre, and thence
to Dominica, Guadaloupe, Antigua, Montserrat, Nevis,
St. Kitts, Tortola, and St. Thomas, in all of which
islands the aut}{orities vied with each other in doing

! The authority for this anecdote merely gives the initial, W., which
may refer either to Wauchope or to another officer of the Sz George,
Watson by name.
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honour to the royal visitor—the officers of the ship
coming in, of course, for their share in the festivities.
Their life, when not on duty, was, in fact, to a large
extent a round of gaieties, which they varied by sein-
ing-parties, or by rides into the interior of the islands,
by bathing, cutter-racing, and playing at ‘swinging
the monkey.’ In other respects it was uneventful,
the sight of an albatross or of masses of Gulf weed
being the sort of incidents which diversified it.
During this cruise, steam was only used when neces-
sary to enable the ship to keep up to time in
carrying out the programme which had been arranged
for her.

Wauchope was now for a time to be separated from
his companions. He had been returning in the dark
from a ride at Santa Cruz, the seat of the Danish
West Indian Government, when his horse fell under
him, fracturing his arm a second time, almost in the
same place as before. His good-nature made him
an excellent subject for gun-room badinage, and
henceforth his messmates poked their fun at him as
being peculiarly brittle. The poor lad’s case, how-
ever, demanded greater care than could be given on
shipboard ; so it was arranged when the ship sailed
that he should be left behind. He was placed in
charge of the Governor of the island, whose heart he
seems entirely to have won; for the kindly Dane,
when writing to report progress to Mr. Wauchope,
used to say that the longer the boy could be left with
him the better he would be pleased. Wauchope also
remembered with gratitude, in later years, the kind-
ness of a native woman named Dinah who had
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acted as his nurse at Santa Cruz, When he rejoined
his ship some two months later, he was jubilant over
the ‘high old time’ which he declared he had spent
on shore,

Recording as it does, with equal gravity, the break-
ing of a sherry-glass and the falling of a man from
aloft, a ship’s log does not afford very stimulating
literary fare ; nor, except in so far as they illustrate
Wauchope’s life are the movements of the Sz. George
of interest to ourselves. In May 1861 she was at
Bermuda; whence, in company with the NiZ and
Jason, she started for Halifax, Nova Scotia—the
warships testing their sailing powers one against
the other on the voyage. At Halifax, or between
there and neighbouring ports, she spent the remainder
of the summer and the autumn. The American Civil
War, as will be remembered, was then raging, and her
presence in these waters was calculated to produce a
wholesome impression. For there was loose gun-
powder about at the time; which, as it happened, a
thoughtless prank of the St George's middies came
very near igniting. Some of these young gentlemen,
skylarking about Halifax after a supper, had come on
what they took for a phcenix doing duty for a sign,
which they proceeded with some difficulty to unship.
After acting in like manner to other signs, three of
the lads were captured by the police and placed in
‘chokey.’ And now, lo and behold, it is discovered
that the supposed phcenix is in reality the American
eagle, displayed above the Consulate! In the inflamed
state of public feeling the newspapers took up the
incident, describing it as a ‘secession act, an insult
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by British officers to the States; so that, had not the
American Consul been a man of good sense and
feeling, this freak of a few wild lads might have been
followed by serious consequences. As it was, the
offenders got off with the payment of a £4 fine and
damages.

From a journal kept by one of Wauchope’s mess-
mates, 1 extract the following entry, under date
June 12th: ‘Fine day. I, Wauchope,.and Francis
went for a fishing excursion up the Basin. Caught
five dozen fish. Encamped in the woods; made a
slight supper; went to the Indian camp; had a little
more supper there, and then went with one of them
lobster-spearing at 10 P.M. Speared about half-a-
dozen. We had not enough torches, or we should
have got more.’ This ‘specimen day’ of happy boy-
hood is one of the very few from Wauchope’s life
at this period now recoverable from the deepening
shades.

Passing on to the winter, we find a prospect of
active service now opening before the S7. George. It
had come about in this way. After having exercised
considerable forbearance towards Mexico, England
had at last agreed to co-operate with France and
Spain in demanding from the Constitutional Govern-
ment of Benito Juarez satisfaction for the claims of
foreign creditors, redress for injuries to foreign sub-
jects. Accordingly, having proceeded from Halifax
to the Bahamas, in January 1862 the St. George cruised
off the Mexican coast, visiting Sacraficios, Anton
Lizardo, and Vera Cruz. But by this time the self-
interested designs of the French Emperor had become
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patent to the world, with the result that England and
Spain withdrew from the Convention. A turnin the
fortunes of the American War then induced Napoleon
himself to withdraw his troops, and his tool, the unfor-
tunate Maximilian, was left to pay for his ambitious
schemes.

Whilst lying in the bay of Sacraficios, anxiously
awaiting orders which should lead to some movement
on active service, the crew of the Sz George had
received a communication of a very different kind—
namely, that of the lamented death of the Prince
Consort, which reached them through a Spanish news-
paper. At the Havana, a few days later, this news
was officially confirmed ; whilst, at Bermuda—her next
destination, where she arrived on the 4th February—
the ship received her recall home. On February 20th,
when in mid-ocean, her log records the observation of
a lunar halo, having ‘a peculiar dark band running
across the lower part from SE. to NW. Next day
a heavy sea ran from the southward, and the ship
encountered a hurricane which far surpassed the storm
experienced on her outward voyage. Rolling heavily,
she took in a vast quantity of water; whilst her star-
board quarter boats were blown inboard, jamming up
against the mizzen rigging, so that they had to be
cut away in order to preserve the mizzen-mast. A
picture representing the Sz George under these con-
ditions was painted by Admiral Beechey, and now
hangs in Windsor Castle. She had also been painted,
before starting on her present commission, by the
Queen’s Marine Painter, Brierley. On the 25th
February she moored off Hawlbowline Island, Ireland,
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and early in March was at Keyham Dockyard,
Plymouth, to refit and make good defects.
Wauchope’s experiences in the Navy were now
almost at an end. A cruise in home waters, which
took him northward as far as Cromarty Firth, south-
ward as far as Brest Roads, and to Milford Haven on
the west, occupied the months of May and June. A
stay of a few days which was made off Burntisland
enabled him to visit his father, in company with a
party of his brother-officers. On June 3oth he

addressed to Captain Egerton the following formal
letter :—

To CarraiN EGERTON.
¢ H.M.S. S¢. George,
¢ SPITHEAD.

¢ S1r,—Having received my father’s permission to make an
application to leave H.M.’s Navy, to enable me to qualify for
the Army, I beg you will be pleased to move their Lordships
to grant me my discharge accordingly.—I have the honour
to be, Sir, your most humble servant,

¢ ANDREW G. WAUCHOPE, Midshipman.

(It is perhaps worthy of notice that in this, the earliest
of Wauchope’s letters that I have seen, the character
of his handwriting is already formed.) The applica-
tion, in the Admiralty phrase, ‘not having been made
on account of any misconduct on the part of the officer
making it,’ was forwarded for their Lordships’ approval
—with the result that on July 3rd, 1862, Wauchope
obtained his discharge from the Royal Navy.

Among his shipmates regret at the step which was
to part him from them seems to have been universal.
For, short and interrupted though his naval career had
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been, it had yet afforded him time to impress those
about him with his good qualities, which are still
remembered after more than forty years. But on this
point let some of his former brother-officers speak for
themselves. Admiral Sir Charles Fane writes: ‘He
was then a most promising young officer, popular, and
a favourite with every one on board, and when he left
us was a loss to us in the Navy.” Mr. Francis Delmé
Radcliffe: ‘A boy of high principles, very conscien-
tious, and of a chivalrous and romantic disposition.
. . . he was very popular with his messmates, and
also with the men, in whose well-being he took great
interest” Vice-Admiral Sir Robert Harris: ‘ Young
Wauchope, when 1 first met him in the gun-room of
the St George, was a ruddy, cheery, red-headed, very
Scotch boy, very good tempered, and never put out by
any of the chaff without which a gun-room mess of
those days would have been not a gun-room. We all
liked him immensely.’ Rear-Admiral Charles John-
stone : ‘ The impression of him left on my mind was
that of a very high-minded and, in that sense, promis-
ing boy. He was of a bright and cheerful disposition.’
Captain Henry Walters, R.N.: ‘I remember him as a
charming companion, humorous, never a nasty thing
to say about any one, always looking on the bright
side of everything, exceptionally kind-hearted, and as
a rule good-tempered to a degree, though I remember
distinctly one of our messmates remarking to me on
one occasion that “ Niddrie "—as we generally called
him when we did not call him Andy—“in a passion
was a ‘caution.’” So evidently he could be roused on
occasion.’
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A question which ere this must have presented
itself to the reader is, What determined Wauchope
thus early to leave the Navy? It has been seen that
his entrance into it had been, all things considered, of
very good hope for the future—indeed, more than
commonly auspicious. For, among sailors, it is given
only to the budding Nelson to distinguish himself
during his first voyage. Well, the answer to the
question is simply this—that, though in after life he
would look back upon the bright side of his naval
career, he was not happy in it at the time. His letters
home were evidence of this, and there were various
causes which might account for it. For one thing, the
life of a midshipman of those days was not only rough
—at which Wauchope was far too well-plucked a lad
to flinch—but in other respects less desirable than it
is now. Again, there exists some doubt as to whether
he was in reality cut out for the sea-life—his accident
with the running rope being thought to indicate a lack
of that special sort of quickness which should char-
acterise the good seaman., Probably he recognised
this defect in himself, which would certainly weigh
with the sensible lad he was in his decision as to a
career. Certainly, in later life, his native modesty
made him ready to acknowledge, with perhaps undue
emphasis, his want of quickness, But there is little
doubt that the really determining cause of his leaving
the Navy must be sought in the personne/ of the ship
he sailed in. For, notwithstanding the care which
had been taken in selecting her officers, it is indisput-
able that the Sz George was not in this respect a
happy ship. It is true that her Captain was one of
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the best and kindest who ever sailed ; but among the
senior officers were two whose ideas of duty and
discipline were, to say the least of it, most unfortunate.
These have now passed to their rest,and it were there-
fore ungenerous to go into particulars as to their mis-
deeds. It is enough to say that the conduct of these
gentlemen sufficed to disgust Wauchope with the
service, and to drive him from it, and that he was
not the only midshipman of the Sz Geosrge so driven,
As for the others, they probably had not the free
hand which Wauchope’s father gave him in the choice
of a profession. Among themselves they formed a
happy company, and they were perforce of circum-
stance obliged to put up with what he could prevent.
Later in life Andrew judged that his father had been
wrong in indulging him so far. But it is probable
that Mr. Wauchope’s strong religious principles made
him fear the moral risks of the sea-life for his young
son,and hence not unwilling to give him the advantage
of continuing under his own eye until his character
should have realised the high promise which it already
held out.



CHAPTER 111

PREPARATION FOR THE ARMY—]JOINS THE BLACK
WATCH—EARLY DAYS IN THE REGIMENT

IT has been seen that Wauchope’s aspirations had now
reverted to that first love of his Worksop days, the
Army. But his education, so far, had been rudi-
mentary. In order to enter the Army, further studies
were necessary ; and to a lad of his active disposition,
to resume discarded harness, and after tasting the
sweets of independence as an officer and gentleman,
to revert to the condition of a pupil, must have gone
much against the grain. Credit, therefore, is his due
for the docility and good sense with which, during the
next three years, he applied himself to the task of
preparing for his new profession. These three years
were spent chiefly at Niddrie, where he worked under
a tutor—an arrangement which had been adopted in
deference to Mr. Wauchope, the progress of whose
malady (a paralytic affection) rendered him more
and more dependent on the attentions of the younger
of his sons, particularly now that the elder had entered
the Army, and was absent with his regiment, the 6th
Dragoon Guards.

Young Wauchope is said at this time to have
applied himself specially to the study of mathe-
matics; he also went periodically to Edinburgh to

48
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receive instruction in French. In holiday seasons
he made short excursions to Yetholm, which he
always much enjoyed, and also paid two of his
many visits to his married sister in the south-west
of Ireland. During the year 1863 he and his father
spent some time together at Cheltenham.

As for his amusements at this time, besides the
fishing and shooting which his father’s estates afforded,
they comprised a pack of beagles, with which he
hunted the country round Niddrie—his principal
associates in this sport being two younger members
of the families of Gibson-Craig of Riccarton and
Trotter of Morton Hall, and a Mr. Craig, a paper-
manufacturer of the district. He also raised a cricket-
eleven at Niddrie, where the game was till then
unknown; and it is recalled that, with the keen
relish for rustic quaintness which at all times char-
acterised him (and which afterwards procured him
many a good laugh over the sayings of his soldiers),
he hugely enjoyed the instructions given by one
novice to another in these words, ‘Man! juist tak’
the bat in yer hand, an’ gie the ba’ a thunderin’'
lick.)

An anecdote of this period, though trifling, may
serve to illustrate his tenacity. One day he happened
to catch sight of a well-known local poacher plying his
business in the Niddrie coverts. The misdoer took to
his heels, with Andy after- him. The poacher, who
was a good runner, led his pursuer an exciting and
fatiguing chase. At last, being nearly spent, he had
recourse to cunning, and ‘went to earth’—which he
did by entering a tunnel on the railway-line near
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Arthur’s Seat, where, crouching in the darkness, he
allowed the pursuit to go by him, and then emerged
where he had entered. Meantime Wauchope still
held on his course, until, discovering how he had
been duped, he returned home exhausted by his run
and even more chagrined by his discomfiture.

Of his habits during this and somewhat later times
spent at Niddrie, the following particulars have been
communicated by those who knew him well, and they
are not uncharacteristic. Though his physique in later
days was such that no fatigue or hardship seemed
enough to tax its powers of endurance, he inclined
at this somewhat critical period of life to be fanciful
about his health, and would dose himself with camo-
mile tea as a specific against stomachtitis—his own
burlesque name for dyspepsia. In matters of diet, he
was by nature rather lacking in judgment; so that,
after a long experience of errors and repentances, it
became his practice, as the dishes circulated at table,
to glance inquiringly at his ally, Falside, the butler—
who would respond, when occasion demanded it, by a
warning shake of the head. In his own private quarters
he favoured a fresh air system, and so would draw his
bed out into the middle of the room, and, flinging open
the windows, would sleep where the winds of heaven
had free access to his person. Similarly, in place of
keeping his clothes shut up within a wardrobe, he sus-
pended them from lines which crossed his room, and
kept them exposed to the air.

He became known for the Spartan simplicity of his
taste in the matter of surroundings. A narrow camp-
bed, a portable chest of drawers, a plain table, and



46 MAJOR-GENERAL WAUCHOPE

a ‘regulation’ chair or two, set on an uncarpeted floor:
this composed the furniture of his barrack-room, whose
sole ornaments were books and maps. Nor did he
alter anything after he had become a wealthy man.
So well known, indeed, were his habits in this respect,
that once when the wife of a brother-officer had
accepted an invitation to tea with him, ‘ A queer tea
you'll get!’ was the comment of her husband. And,
sure enough, the brew which was served amid these
severely plain surroundings was found to have been
boiled! In this respect, anything was good enough
for Andrew Wauchope. Nor was it that he did not
appreciate ‘comforts’ when he happened to come
across them. But, for himself, he preferred to culti-
vate a simple and frugal style of living, doubtless
because he judged it more conducive to hard work,
more consonant to the career which he had chosen.
There was at that time, whatever now may be the
case, ample room for a silent protest against excessive
luxury among officers, and almost the only instance
known to me of a snub (not a very harsh one) publicly
administered by Wauchope occurred in that connec-
tion. One or two rather lately joined juniors—good
fellows enough in other respects—had shown a dis-
position to pose as epicures. So, ‘ This won’t do,
¢That is not as it ought to be,’ were criticisms fre-
quently passed over the mess-table—which with
Wauchope went against the grain. ‘Come!’ said he,
at last, when his patience was exhausted, ‘ you know
you didn’t get feeding like this in the —— Militial’
And the hint had its due effect.

As regards dress, Wauchope was at this early time
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unusually careless. Perhaps professors of the science
would affirm that he never quite outgrew this care-
lessness; and certainly these can point to stories
which would seem to bear them out: one story, in
particular, which tells of his starting to address a
great meeting wearing an Ulster coat which had
a huge rent full in the back—a rent which deft fingers
just contrived to get repaired in time. For himself—
who does not pretend to have served an apprentice-
ship with a Poole or Harborow—the writer can only
say that to him the General ever appeared, in mere
externals even, the quiet and unpretentious gentle-
man he was. Howbeit, during this early period of
his life, his attire was apt to be, to say the least of
it, unconventional. A battered straw-hat in winter,
or shoes laced up with any fragment of twine that
came most readily to hand, were among the features
of it. He would seem, in fact, to have brought to
bear on it the rough-and-readiness, without the neat-
ness, of a sailor. He was not even very particular
whether the clothes he wore were his own or not—
for which reason his brother, who was the pink of
neatness, found it convenient, when at home, to keep
his wardrobe under lock and key.

As his time during this period was divided mainly
between study and sport, this place in our narrative
may serve as well as another to speak of him as
student and sportsman. We have already seen that
his native keenness of temperament made him eager
in all sports and games. He was a clever cricketer,
and a good man in a boat; but at no time, I think,
was he more than a fair marksman. The wound
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which he sustained at Kirbekan, from a bullet which
entered his body below the collar-bone, for a long
time incapacitated him from shooting; during which
interval he was content to accompany shooting-parties
of his friends over his own ground, carrying the gun
which he could not raise. For it was at all times
characteristic of him, whether in shooting or else-
where, to be anxious for the enjoyment of others
and careless of his own. But he liked all things to
be done rightly and according to order. Hence his
remembered rebuke to a young friend, who, in part-
ridge-shooting, had made a ‘wrong shot’—snatching
a bird which belonged by right to some one else:
‘My dear fellow, I am surprised at you, after the
training you have had!’ But, on an apology being
tendered, he was immediately appeased. In arranging
and managing a shooting-party he was first-rate ; and,
having once made his arrangement, he would shoot all
day in a deluge rather than allow weather to interfere
with his carrying it out. Over his shooting-parties—
guns, gamekeepers, and beaters—he exercised the
perfect control of an officer over private soldiers,
keeping every one in order ; and it is needless to add
that this control was exercised to the great advantage
of all. For instance, there was, on his Yetholm pro-
perty, a certain field known as Hen's Hole, where the
ground undulated abruptly, and where a head might
casily be blown off by a shot fired at a bird as it
disappeared over a ridge. In shooting this field,
Wauchope always insisted on the observance of special
precautions. Were others as careful, there would be
fewer shooting accidents.
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He was a good, if not specially elegant, horseman,
—a rider by nature, gifted with hands as light as a
woman'’s, and with a particular aptitude for making
a screw go—a useful possession this, as he probably
found, to a younger son with a passion for fox-
hunting. He hunted principally with the Stirling
and Linlithgowshire foxhounds—of which his brother
for a time was Master—and with the Buccleuch Hunt
in Roxburghshire. When hunting from Edinburgh,
in his earlier days, he would hire horses from a certain
well-known job-master, famous for the possession of
some unrivalled screws ; and, following the less luxu-
rious customs of those days, would occasionally rise at
six o'’clock to ride twenty miles to a Meet. Once
started on a run, he would often take a line of his own
across country, and hardly anything save fatigue on
the part of his mount could stop him. And yet he
always rode with judgment, and was a man whom one
would have trusted with any horse. In the field he
enjoyed talking with all sorts and conditions of men
upon all manner of subjects, but might also frequently
be seen alone. As he grew older, too, and especially
after the injury to his shoulder, he attached less
importance to the actual sport of hunting. Thus it is
recalled of him that once at Spottiswoode, when the
hounds were having a particularly bad day, a fellow-
sportsman rode up to him and complained of the
poorness of the sport. ‘ Why,’ said Wauchope, rousing
himself, ‘I think this is positively delightful!’ and,
gazing round him on the wide and somewhat bare
landscape, he added emphatically, ‘ J love this country,
—thus revealing on what his thoughts had been

D
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dwelling, and wherein he found a pleasure which the
other missed.

He was always fond of horses, and had an eye for
them—of which fact an amusing proof has been
furnished to the writer by Lord Wolseley. When the
latter was Governor of Cyprus, it fell to Wauchope,
as a Commissioner acting under him, to present an
official report. Well, in the middle of this document
—amongst matters of high and dry import—was
interjected the unexpected and delightful sentence,
‘I'’ve just seen suchk a thoroughbred mare!’ Nor was
he less a lover of the canine—among which his small
bull-dog, ¢ Brindle,’ is specially remembered. He also
made it a practice to encourage the soldiers serving
under him to keep dogs. Now a regulation prescribed
that, when the regiment received its marching-orders,
dogs owned by private soldiers must one and all be
left behind. Wauchope, however, winked at their
transportation from one quarter to another—con-
triving, as he passed along the railway-platform on
his final tour of inspection, to be good-naturedly blind
and deaf to the little creatures stuffed away within the
carriages—supposing, that is, that any of these had so
far forgotten their own interest as to make their
presence evident. The result was that, no sooner was
the regiment settled in its new barracks, than the dogs
from the former station began, one by one, to reappear.

In his later years, Wauchope would sometimes
declare that he had received next to no education.
This was obviously an over-statement, and may be
ascribed partly to the self-depreciation natural to a
very modest man, partly to the generously exagger-
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ated estimate of bookish attainments sometimes held
by men of action. The fact remains that he was not
a man of much literary culture, though of great ap-
preciation for the same when he came across it in
others. Caring little for general literature, he had
certain favourite books. Among these, the chief
were the works of Sir Walter Scott, of which he had
an intimate knowledge, his favourite among them
being Old Mortality and Rob Roy. He had begun
perhaps by admiring them, as many do, ‘on principle’;
but their conquest of him became complete. So much
so that, on one occasion, shortly before his second
marriage, wishing to convey the impression of an
absolutely enjoyable Sunday evening to be spent by
him, he is remembered to have said, ‘I shall go back
to Niddrie, have some dinner, and then sit in my big
chair and read Scott!’ In particular he relished
Scott’s humour, so that, in reading the novels aloud,
he would sometimes begin to laugh heartily at the
mere approach to some ludicrous passage which
happened to have lingered in his memory—a habit
which was a little tantalising to the person being
read to, who was of course still in the dark as to the
joke. Mr. Kipling's books he did not like, objecting
—I think from defective appreciation of the writer’s
intentions—to the tone in which the private soldier
was there written of. It must be remembered that
to Wauchope the private was a dear and sacred
object, with whom no liberties must be taken; he
even resented the use of the generic nickname
‘Tommy.! His method and Mr. Kipling’s were,
therefore, different ; but, if I understand the two men
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rightly, the essential inspiration in both cases was
the same. - Finally, if Wauchope’s early education
had indeed been somewhat imperfect, he certainly
laboured in later life, as few men do, to make good
its defects. History and the literature of his pro-
fession were his particular studies. Moreover, when
he had conceived his admiration for Napoleon the
Great, he formed an interesting and valuable collec-
tion of books bearing upon the life of that worthy.
He would apply himself to study, as he did most
other things, in a way of his own; and here again
his temperamental ardour served him well. During
the years when he was stationed at St. Elmo, the
principal piece of furniture in his quarters was a
bench, which ran the whole length of the room, and
from end to end was laden with books. And at the
same period, having by that time committed himself
to his political career, he is remembered to have
spent his days during a voyage to Malta, seated,
from morn to even, beside an open port-hole, with a
file of The Times before him, going steadily through
whatever he judged might be of use to him in his
coming campaign, and making excerpts from the
reported utterances of Gladstone. It is not surprising
that fellow-passengers not in his confidence were
much puzzled to account for his occupation. Both
at this juncture and previously, when his studies had
been exclusively military, he was a great collector of
newspaper-cuttings, with which his pockets would
frequently be stuffed. ) ’

My account of his studies and amusements—for
sport was almost the sole amusement he cared for, or
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allowed himself—has carried me ahead of my narra-
tive; but it is perhaps as well to have cleared off
such details as these before coming to the more
strenuous part of the story, which will leave little
space for them. Though generally exemplary, and in
relation to his father deserving of far warmer praise
than that somewhat frigid word infers, Wauchope
is not to be understood, during these three years spent
at Niddrie, to have uniformly and without exception
held aloof from such minor indiscretions as have in all
times characterised the conduct of our generous British
youth. In other words, his character at this time did
not conform to the immaculate ideal as set forth in
feminine fiction of the Hesr of Redclyffe type. It was
too human for that. For instance, there is a floating
tradition of a wrecked Edinburgh cab, and of damages
duly paid for the same by Mr. Wauchope, which, if
substantiated, would indicate an occasional excursus
into high-jinks on the part of young Andy and his
companions. And, even if this story of reckless
driving has no actual truth, it has most probably at
least a typical one. Escapades of this kind were,
however, mere casual occurrences. So far as was
necessary, Wauchope stuck manfully to his books;
and when the time arrived for his attainments to be
tested, he was not found wanting. Dusing the Army
entrance-examination he stayed at No. 10 Eaton
Square ; and, having satisfied the requirements of the
authorities, in November 1865, at the age of nineteen,
he was gazetted to the 42nd Royal Highlanders, which
he joined at Stirling.

Here, then, was the future General definitely em-
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barked on that career of arms with which his name
was destined to be associated, and to the heroic
traditions of which his life was to add a mellow
lustre of its own. To any young man whatever such
an era is momentous, and we may be sure that by one
so open to romantic impressions as was Wauchope
nothing that was special in his own case would fail to
be appreciated. We have seen that, as a child, his
imagination had been attracted by the Army, whilst
as a school-boy the goal of his aspirations had been
that gallant corps of which he now found himself a
member. What in particular had served to attract
him to it is unknown; but there was certainly enough
and to spare—whether, materially, in the spectacle of
the regiment seen on parade or on the march, or
morally, in its historical associations—to have im-
pressed and fascinated a far duller mind than his. On
the score of antiquity, indeed, there were other regi-
ments with which the Black Watch could not compete
—its distinctive history dating at that time but about
one hundred and twenty years back. But for fine
qualities manifested, for a distinguished record of
service, during that period, it stood perhaps alone;
hence its high reputation through the world, hence
the unique position held by it in the affections of all
true Scots, and the pride with which they regard it.
Recruited from a race which naturally and by heredity
combines in an unusual degree the qualities proper to
the good soldier with those most generally associated
with birth and breeding, its traditional character was
that of a ‘regiment of gentlemen,’ uniting the highest
courage in the field with the most exemplary behaviour
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out of it. This is no place in which to attempt to
summarise its martial achievements. But it may be
permitted me to recall the facts that a crowded and
eventful history included service in countries as
remote and diverse as Flanders, North America, the
West Indies, and in campaigns as varied as the Penin-
sular, Crimean, and Sepoy ; together with participation
in innumerable engagements, from among which per-
haps stand out (to name but one or two) the glorious
victories of Alexandria, Toulouse, and the Alma, and
the scarcely less glorious defeats of Ticonderoga and
Fontenoy. In more than one or two of these hard-
fought battles the Royal Highlanders had borne the
brunt. Whilst, of those incidents of individual ex-
perience which, perhaps even more than the heroism
of masses, serve to stir the blood of the individual
soldier and to keep alive the sacred fire within him, it is
enough to allude to the capture of the standard of the
French ‘ Invincibles’ in Egypt, the burial of Sir John
Moore at Corufia, the award of the ‘red heckle’ in
recognition of gallantry in the Low Countries, and the
adoption by Sir Colin Campbell of the ‘feather
bonnet’ during the Crimean War. Such incidents as
these are well worthy to rank beside the honours
inscribed upon a regimental colour. And here was
enough to fire or to melt the imagination of a young
soldier such as Wauchope. We have seen that the
appeal to him was made early, nor did custom stale
its power. On the contrary, fuller knowledge served
steadily to deepen attachment. Late in life he has
been known to say that the two things which he
loved best in the world were the City of Edinburgh
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and his regiment. And Wauchope was a man of
acts, not words; so that, so far as affects the latter
part of his speech, this narrative must either bear
him out or fail entirely in its purpose and justifica-

tion.

It is not to be understood, however, that, to the
common eye at least, Ensign Wauchope from the first
stood out as a marked man in the regiment. I have,
indeed, the best authority for stating that such was
not the case. His military talents were developed
slowly, the unique position which he afterwards
occupied in the esteem of officers and men was
attained to step by step.

But if to his own contemporaries at this stage he
seemed but as one of themselves, there were others
whose sharper or more practised vision had already
detected something uncommon in him. For instance,
I am assured by one that, even now, his superficial
light-heartedness and readiness to enter into the
amusement of the moment covered a serious way of
looking at life, of which one notable feature was a
Carlylean detestation of shams. As a soldier, too, he
had begun to attract the attention of those accustomed
to recognise soldierly qualities. Mr. Baird, for ex-
ample, tells how he quickly won the approval of a
certain grave old sergeant who had served in the
Crimea, and who on this head was wont to express
himself by declaring that ‘that red-heided Wauchope
chap’ would either ‘gang tae the deil, or dee Com-
mander-in-Chief.’ In the meantime, this veteran took
the young officer under his own special patronage.
But it is to Sir John M‘Leod, the Colonel in command
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of the regiment, that the credit of discovering the
future General rightly belongs.

Those were days in which, at least among the
younger officers, serious application to the study of
their profession was highly exceptional. It was,
however, a part of Wauchope’s nature that, what-
ever his hand found to do, he should do with his
might. And this applied not less to the routine of
military duties than to other things. Well, this fact
was noticed by his Colonel, who thereupon began to
form a high opinion of his aptitude and ability as a
soldier—whence arose a ‘sensation’ for Wauchope's
immediate contemporaries. The adjutancy at this
time was in the hands of one who, though a gallant
soldier, cared at least as much for sport as soldiering
—a state of matters by no means squaring with the
views of Colonel M‘Leod, who since succeeding to the
command had determined to work up the regiment
into what is professionally known as a ‘soldier’s
regiment.” The adjutant now desired to be relieved
of his office; the Colonel fumed and declared his
intention to raise a sergeant from the ranks and
appoint him in his room. But he was better than
his word ; and to the surprise of all who were less
than sharp-sighted, he appointed Wauchope to the
adjutancy. From his previous reference to the ser-
geant, it would seem that he may have harboured a
doubt as to the wisdom of his choice. But never did
appointment better justify itself. In Sir John
M‘Leod’s words, Wauchope ‘addressed himself to
his new duties with the painstaking assiduity of his
energetic nature, and continued to perform them to



58 MAJOR-GENERAL WAUCHOPE

my entire satisfaction.’ One characteristic peculiarity
of his conduct as adjutant was that he never failed
to report to the Colonel any neglects or shortcomings
of which he had himself been guilty. The date of
his appointment was April §th, 1870, and from this
time forward his part in the practical jokes of his
fellow-subalterns was abandoned. This was, in fact,
the true beginning of the career of one who was
later to be well described as the ‘ideal regimental
officer.’ His newly developed ardour soon received
a further stimulus. For it was about this period
that the Government of the day, determining that
military officers should be properly educated for their
profession, established Garrison Classes for their
benefit—through one of which he passed.

Yet, though these were the immediately determining
causes of the change which about this time came
over the spirit of his dream, it is practically certain
that for a man of his earnest nature much longer to
‘fleet the time carelessly as in the golden world’
would have been an impossibility.



CHAPTER 1V

ADJUTANCY OF THE REGIMENT—ASHANTI
CAMPAIGN OF 1873-1874

THOUGH rich in development of character and the
attainment of professional knowledge, the first seven
or eight years of Wauchope’s life as a soldier were
decidedly uneventful. In October 1868 the regiment’s
head-quarters had been transferred to Edinburgh,
and in November 1869 to Aldershot. In September
1871 it moved to Devonport, and in August 1873
to Portsmouth. In 1871 and 1873 it took part
in Autumnal Manceuvres, held at Chobham and on
Dartmoor.

Of these years there is not much for me to tell.
‘Walking expeditions, with observation of the features
of the country, continued to be Wauchope’s favourite
relaxation; and for the indulgence of this hobby the
North Downs from Aldershot, and the wilds of Dart-
moor from Devonport, afforded him the best of oppor-
tunities, Setting out generally on a Saturday, and
working from the basis of Murray’s guide-books, he
developed a remarkable knack of finding his way
across country by means of footpaths and short cuts,
whilst his power of physical endurance enabled him
to return unfatigued from excursions which had

sufficed to exhaust his companions.
®
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Besides walking for his amusement, he would take
part in fox-hunting, as far as was practicable for a
younger son whose moderate allowance from his father
enabled him to keep but one horse. (In this con-
nection it must be recalled that the estate of Niddrie
was not then the valuable property which it has
since become.) His grey charger, ‘Lady Jane Grey,’
was, however, celebrated as among mares a paragon ;
‘so that, when mounted on her, ‘nothing could touch
him Doubtful, however, of doing her full justice,
when entering for a race, he put up one of his
brother-officers. From Aldershot he hunted with the
Hampshire (Garth’s) hounds, from Devonport either
with the Devonshire (Trelawny’s), or with another
pack, hunted at that time by two brothers whose
extraordinary likeness to one another was often the
means of puzzling strangers who went out with them.
At Devonport he would also revert to an accomplish-
ment acquired in his Navy days by rowing in the
regimental four-oared gig. Excepting a fondness for
inviting friends to dinner, he had no taste which was
expensive to gratify, or at least which he allowed him-
self to gratify in an expensive manner.

In Wauchope’s life these were years of routine-
work—strenuous, no doubt, and of much value in the
making of the man, yet lacking the stimulus of ex-
citement and the interest of variety. That that
routine-work was admirably performed is sufficiently
proved by the testimony of the late Colonel Bayly
of the 42nd Regiment, who, after giving it as his
opinion that Wauchope made one of the best adjutants
ever appointed, goes on to say that ‘his charm of
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disposition enabled him to gain the love of his men,
whilst his tact and firmness enabled him to enforce
the necessary discipline” But however well he had
discharged these duties, he was now to resign them.
In order to make clear his motive for so doing, it is
necessary to pass for a moment from the history of the
man to that of the country.

With the commencement of the year 1873, the war-
cloud had made its appearance on the horizon of the
empire. It arose from the kingdom of the Ashantis—
a country with which we had long had a warlike
account awaiting settlement. Without here attempt-
ing to summarise the history of our relations with that
martial but bloodthirsty race, it may suffice to say
that at least four times already within the century we
had been at war with them, and that these wars had
repeatedly been disastrous to ourselves: notably, in
1824, when the Ashantis had defeated a small British
force and had carried home as a trophy the skull of
the British commander; and in 1863, when a war
which had been rashly engaged in was abandoned in
consequence of the ravages wrought by climatic sick-
ness among our troops. Well, in 1872 negotiations
were being carried on between ourselves and the
Ashanti king, Koffee Kalkalli. These were mainly
concerned with the captivity of certain Europeans in
the Ashanti capital, and with a claim advanced by the
Ashantis of rights over certain possessions which we
had recently acquired from the Dutch. Into the
history of these negotiations it is unnecessary here to
go; it will suffice to say that, whilst they appeared to
be proceeding amicably, an Ashanti army, estimated
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at between twenty and thirty thousand strong, without
warning crossed the river Prah, and advanced upon
the British Protectorate. This was in January 1873.
Our garrisons in West Africa were at that time un-
accountably weak, so that the situation was critical—
the more so because the native tribes under our pro-
tection were strikingly inferior in soldiership to the
Ashantis, whilst their loyalty was not considered
equal to the bearing of any great strain. Meanwhile,
at home, the members of Mr. Gladstone’s Government,
preoccupied with domestic interests, seemed scarcely
as yet to recognise the gravity of the case.

Even the events which followed were slow to rouse
them. Having rallied the friendly tribe of the Fantis,
Colonel Harley, Governor of Cape Coast, had advanced
to meet the invaders; he was driven back under the
very walls of Cape Coast Castle. And though, with
the aid of a small reinforcement, Colonel Festing, who
now assumed the command, succeeded in expelling
the Ashantis from the town of Elmina, where they
had established themselves, a reverse which was soon
afterwards sustained by Commodore Commerell was
sufficient to restore the enemy’s reputation among the
neutral tribes of the Coast, who accordingly began to
turn openly to what they believed to be the stronger
side. Meanwhile the sickness incident to the climate
and the season was doing its work among our
garrisons. At last, in the fulness of time, the necessity
of more vigorous action was forced home to the
Cabinet, and in the month of September, Major-
General Sir Garnet Wolseley was despatched to Cape
Coast in the dual capacity of Civil Administrator and
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Commander of Her Majesty’s land forces in West
Africa.

The prospect of active employment was as usual the
signal for much volunteering among army officers of
high spirit, anxious at once to serve their country and
to increase their own military experience ; and among
those who sent in their names for employment on
special service was Lieutenant Andrew Wauchope.

His application, however, was without result. As it
turned out, he was not without a friend who was
willing and able to advance his interest. Among the
officers who had been invited to join Sir Garnet
Wolseley’s Staff was Captain G. A. Furse of the 42nd
Regiment. Captain Furse, who had already served
upon the Staff at Aldershot, as well as in successive
manceuvres, was known to have an extensive acquaint-
ance among army officers. Accordingly, during the
passage (memorable for its discomforts) of the ss,
Ambris, bearing Sir Garnet Wolseley to the Gold
Coast, the Assistant Adjutant-General of the ex-
pedition placed in Furse’s hands a paper bearing a
long list of names, asking him at the same time to
mark with a cross any name which he considered to
be that of a good and energetic officer. Now, besides
belonging to the same regiment, Wauchope was to
some extent a protdgé of Furse. For instance, at
the time when the regimental adjutancy had last been
vacant, the following little scene had taken place
between them. Wauchope had invited his senior
officer to walk with him to Niddrie, and on the way
had asked his opinion as to who was likely to be the
new adjutant. ‘My dear Andy, replied Furse, guess-
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ing the thought that was in his mind, ‘had you shown
more keenness about your duty, you might have had
a chance’ Wauchope, in return, confessed that he
had not the smallest claim upon the post. The same
night, however, he went to Furse’s room, and telling
him that Captain Baird—his kinsman and mentor in
the regiment—had informed him that Colonel M‘Leod
intended next day to offer him the appointment, asked
advice what to do in regard to it. ‘Take it, and con-
sider yourself very lucky,’ was Captain Furse’s reply,
‘and try to do justice to the Colonel’s choice!” How
faithfully Wauchope had acted upon this advice we have
already seen. The result was that, as the Ambdbris
steamed on her way towards Cape Coast Castle, a big
cross took shape against his name on the A.A.-G.’s list.
And this, in its turn, had the effect of bringing him to the
same destination as that brother-officer whose kindly
remembrance of him he had such good reason to bless.

Eager for his first active, which was also his first
foreign, service, Wauchope arrived at Cape Coast, in
the ss. Volta, on the 30th November 1873. And here
he at once experienced a second little stroke of good
fortune. It happened thus., Among his recent ship-
mates had been Lieutenant the Hon. Henry Wood, of
the 1oth Hussars, who had come out to the Gold Coast
to act as aide-de-camp to Sir Garnet Wolseley. At
dinner on the night of his arrival, Wood was questioned
as to his fellow-passengers, and mentioned Wauchope,
describing him as the best adjutant in the service.
On this Sir Garnet Wolseley became interested, re-
marking that ¢ they must look after that fellow’; and
the end of it was that Wauchope received an ap-
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pointment on the Major-General’'s Staff. For this
appointment he had also been strongly recommended
by his own Colonel, whose displeasure at his defection
had been obviously short-lived ; but I quote the above
incident as helping to show that Wauchope owed his
emergence from obscurity as a soldier, not in any way
to birth or influence, but solely to his good qualities
and the impression made by them upon his fellow-
workers. And I may here likewise point out that, as
the Major-General was extremely strict as' to the
qualifications physical and professional of those em-
ployed upon his Staff, it is a further testimony to
Wauchope’s high reputation at this early stage of his
career that he should have been among the number
selected. He was posted to the regiment, composed
of Houssas and other natives to the number of 540,
which was known as Russell’s, from its commanding
officer, Major Baker Russell of the 13th Hussars. Its
regimental head-quarters had then just been moved to
Dunquah, a native village situated some fifteen or
twenty miles from Cape Coast Castle on the Coomassie
road, and thither accordingly Wauchope at once pro-
ceeded.

The position of affairs was then as follows. Barely
two months had elapsed since Sir Garnet Wolseley’s
landing at Cape Coast, but that brief period had been
turned to splendid account by the Major-General and
his subordinates. Indeed, the first and in some respects
more difficult half of the original plan of campaign was
already an accomplished fact; for, by the first days of
December, the Ashantis to a man had withdrawn from
the British Protectorate—recrossing the Sacred River,

E
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Prah, and re-entering their own dominions. To this
happy result a succession of small military actions had
contributed. Of these the first—skilfully planned, and
fought at Essaman, lying to the north-east of Elmina,
on the 14th October—had had the effect of cutting off
from the Ashanti army at Mampon its food-supplies
drawn from the coast villages, and so causing the break-
up of the great camp at that place. The enemy had
thereupon begun falling back upon Dunquah, when
the surprise of a camp at Iscabio had enforced the
lesson of Essaman.

A repulse from our own post at Abrakrampa, where
he had taken the initiative, and a further fight at
Faysowah, had sufficed thoroughly to alarm him and
to convince him of the expediency of retiring within
his own borders.

Satisfactory, however, as all this was, the purely
military operations had been, so far, the lesser part of
the work accomplished. This had comprised negotia-
tions, always tedious and often futile, with the native
chiefs who were friendly to ourselves; likewise the
toilsome drilling and discipline of native troops raised
by their co-operation ; item, the survey of the country,
and the formation in the early days of the campaign
of a cordon of military outposts round Cape Coast
Castle. Add to all this the construction—in view of
future operations—of complete systems of transport,
commissariat, hospital, and intelligence ; and it will be
seen that the exertions of Sir Garnet Wolseley and
his officers must have been well-nigh superhuman.
Nor must it for a moment be forgotten that these were
made in the face of the frequent illnesses and constant
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sufferings inseparable from the most pestilent of
climates.

With a view to minimising the ravages of pestilence,
it had been hoped at the outset of the campaign that
native and West Indian soldiers, acting under British
officers, might suffice for the work to be performed.
But a very short experience of the natives of the Gold
Coast had served to convince Sir Garnet Wolseley
that, without British troops, its effective accomplish-
ment was impossible. Then the belief that—at least
throughout the non-raigy season, extending from
December to March inclusive—these might be em-
ployed without undue risk to life and health from the
climate had justified his demanding to have them sent
out to him. His letter to this purport bore date
Octobér 13th; and it was against the arrival of the
expected battalions, and in view of their subsequent
operations, that much of the work detailed above—
notably that connected with transport, feeding, and
the care of the sick—was required.

For, when the difficulty of the country is taken into
account, it is evident that four months were but a
scanty time-allowance in which to conduct an army
from the coast to Coomassie, crush a powerful enemy,
and return. It therefore became important that every-
thing should be in readiness for the British reinforce-
ment to march immediately upon landing, and that
its passage up the country should be made as easy as
possible. This necessitated in addition to the works
above named, the construction of a road, furnished
with sites for encampments, through the bush to the
Ashanti frontier. The camps along the line of march
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were carefully prepared. Site and water-supply hav-
ing first been considered, they were furnished with
huts for the men and officers, with a control store,
hospital, and mess-shed. The huts, which were bailt
of wattle and thatched with palm-leaves, were fitted
with beds slightly raised above the ground. Also the
road where it led through the camp was widened, and
the surrounding bush cleared.

Upon this work Wauchope was now employed, and
it of course took him up the country. Nor was it long
ere the energy displayed by him in clearing and pre-
paring the camping-ground at Yancoomassie Assin
had won him the golden opinion of one so well quali-
fied to appreciate good work of this kind as the
indefatigable Major Robert Home, C.R.E. of the
expedition. In the intervals of such work as this, the
men under his command rendered valuable service in
connection with the transport system. In Russell’s
regiment he had been placed in command of a com-
pany composed of Winnebahs, a coast tribe dwelling
to the east of Cape Coast Castle. That the drill and
discipline of natives such as these was no easy task
has been recorded by the historian of the war, General
Sir Henry Brackenbury, who represents, in an amusing
passage, the black faces of the troops (in strong con-
trast to their white frocks) being turned to the left
when the word ‘right’ was given, and breaking into
complacent grins on finding themselves face to face
with their next neighbours in the ranks. Wauchope’s
natural liking for drill must have been severely put to
the proof. But his love for fighting men of all sorts
would stand him in good stead. He took a pride in
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the training of his ¢ black boys,’ as he called them, and
is even said to have succeeded in instilling something
of his own spirit into them. His present employment,
however, was not to last long. Among the regiments
despatched to the Gold Coast in compliance with
Sir Garnet Wolseley’s requisition, was the 42nd
Highlanders; so that, contrary to first expectation,
Wauchope underwent no long separation from his
old comrades. The regiment was landed at Cape
Coast Castle on the 3rd and 4th January 1874—
about which time Wauchope sought the Major-
General in command and resigned his post upon the
Staff. The conversation which passed between them
was as follows: ‘I am very sorry, sir,’ said Wauchope,
‘that I must leave you.' Sir Garnet asked if this was
absolutely necessary. ‘ Absolutely,’ replied Wauchope ;
‘for I could not possibly allow the regiment to go into
action without me.’

For the present, however, no action being imminent,
he remained with Russell’s regiment. And when I
mention that Russell’s had been chosen to lead the
advance into the enemy’s country, it will be under-
stood that he was there in a position entirely to his
liking. The Major-General had directed that a camp
should be formed at Prahsu, about midway between
Cape Coast Castle and Coomassie, and not far from
the Ashanti frontier, which should be capable of con-
taining 2000 Europeans, with depét of provisions and
military stores. Russell’s regiment—numbering 500,
and including 12 British officers—was employed in

"the clearing of the camping-ground, and it will sur-
prise no one to hear that the regimental lines attracted
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the attention and moved the commendation of the
General and the head-quarter Staff, on the arrival
of these latter at Prahsu. On the morning of the
sth January—a bridge which was being built over
the Prah being still uncompleted—the regiment was
ferried over on rafts, to take up a position at Atto-
biassie on the north bagk of the river—each man
being furnished with supf)lies for a week and a reserve
of ammunition. Arrived at Attobiassie, the ground
was cleared, huts erected, and the continuing of the
road was set about over perhaps the very worst ground
encountered in the whole line of march. At Essiaman,
the next point, a defensible post was constructed ; and
thence, on January gth, 100 men of Russell’s, under
Lieutenant Wauchope, advanced half-way to Ansah.
Meantime, far in the rear, the main column, acting
under Brigadier Sir Archibald Alison, pushed its way
laboriously between the green and living walls of the
breathless and horizonless forest already traversed by
Wauchope, whilst subsidiary columns, under Captain
Glover and Captain (now General Sir William) Butler,
acting in concert with it, converged upon distant
Coomassie.

So far the enemy had offered no resistance to our
advance. On the 13th January, Russell’s regiment,
accompanied by a rocket-party, was sent on to Accro-
foomu, where a control store was to be built. On
the 17th, having been ordered to proceed with great
caution, and avoid engaging the enemy, Russell suc-
ceeded in occupying the crest of one of the Adansi
range of hills, which constitutes the barrier of the
Ashanti kingdom. From this point a view over end-
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less successions of tree-tops melting into mist was
obtained in the direction of Coomassie. Here he
fortified himself, and thus secured a very important
military position. On this occasion Wauchope’s com-
pany, numbering 100, had acted as the reserve. On
the 19th, still without opposition, Russell occupied
Quisah, the first village of the Ashanti kingdom
proper to be entered by our troops. On the same
day Wauchope met an old and attached friend in
the person of his own colonel, who had come to the
front to take over the command of the advanced-
guard —made up of Russell's and Wood’s native
regiments, Rait’s artillery, and the head-quarters of
the 2nd West India Regiment—and who appointed
Wauchope his Brigade-Major. On the 23rd inst., the
force proceeded to Fomannah, within thirty miles of
their destination. Meantime Lord Gifford’s scouts
had gone before; whilst hard in the traces of the
advanced -guard followed Major Home with his
sappers, to form military posts in the villages
occupied.

The difficulties of transport which had delayed
the progress of our main column having now been
overcome, it became important, owing to the ravages
which were being wrought daily in our ranks by
sickness, that decisive action should not be deferred.
Accordingly our troops prepared to concentrate to
the north of the Adansi hills, their communica-
tions with Prahsu being kept open by means of
six fortified posts, Meantime indications were not
wanting that the drama had begun to thicken.
King Koffee had sent forward repeated, but unsatis-
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factory, embassages. The payment of indemnity was
offered, the white captives were released. Portents,
both weird and horrible, marked the route of our
advanced-guard: a white thread stretched from tree
to tree, a rude representation of a gun studded with
knives and planted in the path, a mutilated corpse
impaled on a bamboo by the wayside. The fetish
priests had been at work. The body was interred
by men of Russell’s regiment.

Creeping steadily onward, the advanced-guard
reached Dompoassie on the 26th January. Next day
Colonel M‘Leod ordered a reconnaissance along a
bush-path which branched off to the west of the main
road. There was a slight brush with the enemy—
who fled, pursued by the left wing of Russell’s
regiment—and a native village was burnt. In this
affair the conduct of our native troops was blamed
for impetuosity—there was no holding them back.
On the 28th the head-quarters and a detachment of
the 23rd Royal Welsh Fusiliers joined the advanced-
guard, and a reconnaissance in force was undertaken.
The village of Borborassie was surprised, the Ashantis
taking refuge in the bush on every side. But, in
rushing the village, Captain Nicol, Adjutant of the
Hampshire Militia, who led the advance with a
company of Russell’s, was shot dead. He was the
first white man killed in action north of the Prah,
and his manly qualities having won him the respect
of his comrades, his death produced a strong impres-
sion. For the following glimpses of Wauchope’s
characteristic conduct on this occasion I am indebted
to an officer who served with him in the campaign.
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‘I remember meeting him,” writes Rear-Admiral
Mann, ‘in Ashanti, after a fight. We were burying
poor old Nicol, who had been shot; and the nerves
were strained. We had a few words on the general
position. I forget the exact words he used, but
perfectly remember leaving him encouraged and
strengthened by his cheerfulness and confidence.
That was the sort of man he was: ke Aad the power to
give others styemgth! During the twenty-five years of
life and activity which yet remained to Wauchope,
it was natural that his character should be much
more fully revealed to his fellow-men than it could
be at this time. But this one remark of an acute
and sympathetic observer shows us that, though
that character might grow, it did not change; for I
question if any truer word than the above was ever
spoken of it! By the 3oth of the month the advanced-
guard had moved up the country as far as Quarman,
where it entrenched itself. It was now evident that
a battle was impending.

On the evening of the 3oth January, Colonel
M‘Leod came in to the main column, then halted
at Insarfu, from the front and announced that all
further forward movements must be conducted with
extreme caution, as a formidable army, assembled
beyond Egginassie, two or three miles from our front,
was prepared to dispute our advance. Accordingly,
next morning at daybreak, our troops marched off
to meet the enemy. To the 42nd Highlanders, under
Major Duncan Macpherson, had been assigned the
honour of heading the advance—a disposition, by
the way, of the force under his leadership which
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formed the ground of some irresponsible criticism
directed against the Brigadier; who was now again
taxed with favouring his own countrymen, as he
had already been when he gave them precedence in
landing at Cape Coast Castle. In answer to this,
it is enough to say that Sir Archibald Alison knew
well what he was about, though his very excellent
reason for what he now did is not one into which it
is here desirable to go. In the advance, Colonel
M'Leod, having Wauchope with him as his orderly
officer, had command of the left column, composed
of Russell’s regiment and a wing of the Naval Brigade.
So that the posts of these two officers in the action
which followed were not with their own regiment.

Of the battle of Amoaful the main features were
as follows. Firing commenced at a little after eight
o'clock, when Lord Gifford's scouts rushed the village
of Egginassie, beyond which point were assembled
the Ashantis in numbers unofficially estimated as
from 15,000 to 20,000. But the density of the forest
undergrowth amid which the battle was contested
gave to the enemy, to a large extent, the property
of invisibility. The brunt of the fighting was borne
by the Highlanders. Following up the attack of the
scouts, the 42nd had pushed on to the further side
of the captured village, where, having deployed into
line, they continued by means of well-directed volleys
to drive the enemy before them. Pauses in the
fighting, caused by the enemy’s retreat, were employed
by the sappers in clearing ground for a fresh advance.
In the above manner the position was reached which
had been selected by the Ashantis for a stand. It
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was one of great natural strength, evincing the
strategical judgment of those who were to defend it.
On the further side of a swamp, which a sluggish
stream intersected, rose in the form of a crescent an
extensive ridge, of which the left extremity was
thrown forward—thus enabling the enemy to bring
their fire to bear against the left flank of their
assailants. To the stirring music of their native
pipes, the Highlanders now descended by successive
companies into the swamp, directing their attack full
on the enemy’s front, and becoming quickly lost to
sight amid the bush—so that from that time forward
the progress of the battle was made apparent only
by the noise and smoke of the opposing firearms.
For the enemy stood his ground manfully, keeping
up a determined fire, whilst at the same time making
repeated efforts to envelop the left flank of the
British, Indeed, how spirited was their resistance
is shown by the fact that, of 27 officers and 489 men
of the Black Watch who entered the action, no fewer
than 9 officers and 104 men were wounded. Dogged,
however, as was the stand of the Ashantis, the play
of our artillery from the rising ground on the further
side of the swamp was too much for them, so that
they evacuated their position, and retreated, being
pressed closely by our soldiers from behind. And
though some further resistance was still to be ex-
perienced, by shortly after mid-day the gallant
Highlanders were in occupation of the village of
Amoaful, the objective of the day’s fighting.

How, meanwhile, had M‘Leod’s column been em-
ployed? It had advanced through the bush with
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the view of meeting the left flank of the Highlanders
on their extension, for which purpose it was necessary
that a pathway should be cut under a heavy fire from
either side. The peculiar hide-and-seek nature of
the country defeated the immediate object aimed at.
Nevertheless, after seizing and clearing a hill, the left
column became engaged with a body of the enemy
which had become separated from the main one when
the latter was driven back. Having dealt with the
above, it emerged from the bush upon the Coomassie
road, and kept up the communication with the advance
at Amoaful. The part played by Wauchope in the
day’s fighting was the unconspicuous one of many
another faithful and valiant soldier; nor are his
personal impressions of it now recoverable. (What
life and spirit, combined with the perfection of modest
self-effacement, he would himself have imparted to
these in the telling!) In common with others, he
distinguished himself by courage and coolness,
throughout the day never sparing himself, and con-
tributing much under trying circumstances to preserve
the prescribed order of the advance. Such conduct
was characteristic of the man; for matchless as was
his courage, he was never one to fight for his own
hand, but always thought first of his place in the
general organisation and of the men under his charge,
To such as he the most prized of all military decora-
tions comes less often than they deserve.

What certainly afforded him the sincerest pleasure
was the conduct of his own regiment. Speaking of
its share in the day’s action—and we have seen that
this was the lion's share—the Brigadier-General had
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written thus: ‘It is impossible for me to speak in
too high terms of that magnificent regiment, the
42nd Highlanders; their steadiness and discipline,
the admirable way in which they were kept in hand
by their officers, and the enthusiastic gallantry with
which every charge was executed, exceed all praise.’?
Special commendations of individuals followed. When
the news of the battle reached England, the news-
papers also waxed loud in applause of the Highlanders
and other troops which had taken part in it. Here
is a sample of their eulogy. ... ‘Nor is the credit
won by the Black Watch less because they showed in
Ashantiland that courage, steadfastness, and dash at
the right moment which have won them high renown
in British military annals. We do not overrate the
exploits performed by any of the famous regiments
engaged. They only did what they have so often
done before, face and overcome deadly odds and
peri.  But undoubtedly African fighting was a new
experience for them ; yet they proved again that they
are alike in all fields. Surrounded by thousands of
unseen enemies, far from all support or aid, compelled
to move along narrow paths, and fight as it were in
the dark, the handful of Britons, self-reliant, disciplined,
daring, amply justified the confidence reposed in them
by their commander and their countrymen.’ Nor, in
estimating the day’s achievement, must it be forgotten
that our troops had had to contend, not alone against
the enemy, but against one of the most demoralising
climates in the world—a climate which I have heard
described by one who fought bravely in the campaign
) Regimental Records of the 4and Highlanders, MS.
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as of itself enough to predispose the strong soldier
to a womanly break-down.

Wauchope’s joy over the gallantry of his regiment
was unhappily destined to an abatement. Among
those wounded during the frontal attack on the
Ashanti position had been his brother-officer, Major
Baird. From the time when they had been thrown
together in the regiment, Baird—who, be it said in
passing, was a man of remarkably fine physique—had
acted as Wauchope’s guide, philosopher, and friend.
As a kinsman, he had taken him under his protection,
training him up in the way he ought to go, and not
hesitating to reprimand him when he thought the
occasion required it. Invalided homre, Baird died of
his wounds ere reaching England—regretted by every
officer and man of the regiment, and not least, we may
be sure, by Wauchope.

Before this, however, many things had happened.
On the night following the battle, the troops bivouacked
in Amoaful-a town constructed after the typical
Ashanti fashion, round a square planted with trees.
Sir Garnet Wolseley had now determined to diverge
from the main road to Coomassie in order to destroy
the important town of Becquah, lying about two miles
to the west, which was reported to be filled with
Ashantis. Accordingly next morning at eleven o’clock
the force destined for this purpose was mustered in the
captured village. It was divided into an advanced-
guard and main body, the former being led by the
tall figure of Colonel M‘Leod, with whom of course
" was his orderly officer, Wauchope. A native pathway
leading through dense bush conducted them to the
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town, where Gifford’s scouts forced an entrance.
They encountered a vigorous opposition; but this
did not last long, for, as the veteran M‘Leod observed,
the effects of the previous day’s fighting was evident
(though in opposite ways) both on our own troops and
the enemy. After being occupied by the advanced-
guard, the town was evacuated and burnt—the enemy,
which had attempted to collect again, being dispersed
by a few volleys. The return of the troops to camp
was unmolested. Colonel M‘Leod’s conduct. of this
affair won the warm commendation of the Brigadier-
General, and the Colonel in turn brought to favourable
notice the names of his staff officers for their share in
the proceedings.

The next day (February 2nd) the entire force
advanced from Amoaful, the advanced-guard under
Colonel M‘Leod having orders to halt at Aggemmamu,
some six miles onward, to report. Wauchope and his
companions now proceeded over a track which bore
marks of having been recently trampled by the feet
of many fugitives, whilst from the thicket on either
hand exhaled a sinister odour of dead men. But the
conquerors’ progress was not to be entirely uninter-
rupted. In ascerlding a broad patch of miry ground,
after crossing a stream, the advanced-guard was fired
on by a well-placed ambuscade, covering a larger force
of the enemy. Fortunately the Ashantis had opened
their fire out of range, or the result might have been
serious, Major Russell now at once deployed his men
in skirmishing order across the road, whence they
poured the contents of their rifles ahead and into the
bush on either side. But their shooting was unfor-
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tunately wild. Whilst endeavouring to control them,
Wauchope sustained a slight contused wound in the
right hand from a slug. But he was not the sort of
man to regard such trifles. His influence soon made
itself felt, the Ashantis, estimated at 1000 strong,
were driven back, and the neighbouring village of
Jarbinbah was in our hands. The advanced-guard then
proceeded to Aggemmamu, its progress being more
or less opposed at each of three successive villages on
the way. Certain critical points upon the road had
been secured by leaving pickets behind. The same
afternoon M‘Leod scouted to Adwabin, where Ashantis
were understood to be collected, but found them fled.
Sir Garnet Wolseley now resolved to secure Aggem-
mamu as a base, and to march his force on to
Coomassie, which was but fifteen miles distant, as a
flying column. On the arrival of the head of the
column at Adwabin, on the 3rd February, Colonel
M‘Leod with the advanced-guard again moved for-
ward. Before he had been an hour upon the road the
attack of the day before was repeated from a precisely
similar position. On this occasion M‘Leod brought
up the seven-pounder gun of the advanced-guard and
opened with shell upon the ambush. We have seen
that, on the former occasion, the rifle-practice of
Russell’s regiment had been erratic and wasteful ;
some companies of the Rifle Brigade had in con-
sequence been called to the front. The united fire of
these two bodies was now brought to bear upon the
enemy, who after a short, sharp action was driven
back. After this, however, owing to the répeated
ambuscades encountered by the way, the progress of



NEARING THE END 81

M‘Leod’s column was necessarily slow, whilst almost
every discharge of the enemy’s musketry inflicted some
loss upon his men. But in a case of this kind the post
of danger is also the post of glory. The steadiness
and self-control in reserving their fire now shown by
the men of Russell’s completely retrieved the character
of that regiment, so that Wauchope’s labours had not
been in vain. In the day’s fighting, they alone had
three killed and over thirty wounded.

Early in the afternoon the advanced-guard reached
the river Ordah, the head-quarters following closely.
Here it was understood that a force of 10,000 Ashantis
awaited them on the further bank, an equal number
being still in our army’s rear. Meantime, under cover
of a flag of truce, a last effort had been made by the
King to stay our progress. It was received for what
it was worth. Yet he was allowed one more chance
of meeting our terms by sending in hostages—of
which, as was expected, he declined to avail himself.

The river being about fifty feet in breadth and three
or four feet deep, it was necessary to bridge it; in the
meanwhile Russell’s regiment was passed over, to act
as a covering-party to the Engineers who undertook
this duty. On landing on the north bank, they pro-
ceeded to make a fairly large clearing in the bush, and
a small entrenchment, where the remainder of the
advanced-guard presently joined them. The bivouac
of the main body formed three sides of a square,
resting on the south bank of the river. At nightfall
a tornado set in ; heavy and long-continued rains soon
saturated the flimsy shelter-tents of the flying column,
and the night was spent in great physical discomfort.

F
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The dawn came languidly. It seemed, says an eye-
witness, ‘as if the day sympathised with the waning
of the once terrible Ashanti power, and lagged in its
course to delay what had now become inevitable.’

But, in spite of adverse atmospheric conditions, the
Engineers had continued their work through a great
part of the night, with the result that by daybreak, or
soon after, a complete bridge, furnished with hand-
rails, spanned the river. On our side faint hopes were
for a time entertained that, after the lesson of Amoaful,
the enemy would not risk another stand-up fight. But
it soon became apparent that he was prepared to make
a last stand; and fight he did, though perhaps not
with quite the same courage and tenacity as on the
last occasion. In the comfortless dawn the camp had
been early astir, the camp-fires forming centres of
groups of drenched men and officers. At seven o’clock
the advanced-guard began to move off. M‘Leod com-
manded, and to some companies of the Rifle Brigade
had been assigned this morning the post of honour in
the front, which had been occupied by the Highlanders
at Amoaful. The objective was the village of Ordahsu,
about a mile and a quarter from the river, Hardly
was the column clear of the river-bank when the
enemy opened fire upon its head. ‘No man,’ has
remarked a keen observer, ¢is more cool in action than
Colonel M‘Leod.” Finding that the native troops (of
